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Corporate Governance Statement
The directors and management are committed 
to conducting the business of Environmental 
Clean Technologies Limited in an ethical manner 
and in accordance with the highest standards 
of corporate governance. Environmental Clean 
Technologies Limited has adopted and has 
substantially complied with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations 
(Fourth Edition) (‘Recommendations’) to the 
extent appropriate to the size and nature of its 
operations.

The Company’s Corporate Governance 
Statement, which sets out the corporate 
governance practices that were in operation 
during the financial year and identifies and 
explains any Recommendations that have not 
been followed, as well as the ASX Appendix 
4G, are released to the ASX on the same date 
the Annual Report is released. The Corporate 
Governance Statement and Committee Charters 
can be found on the Company’s website at 
http://www.ectltd.com.au/about-us/corporate-
governance/
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2023 HIGHLIGHTS
•	 COLDry Commercial Demonstration 

•	 Phase 1 COLDry facility successfully commissioned  in Dec 2022

•	 Phase 2: Rotary Kiln Installation:
•	 Engineering documentation prepared

•	 Hazardous Operations review completed

•	 Major tender packages prepared

•	 Successful commercial product testing including:

•	 End user boiler trials successfully concluded

•	 Spontaneous Combustion product testing confirms safety 
parameters

•	 Gasification testing with Newcastle University confirms 
successful performance of COLDry pellets in char appications

•	 Biomass blends tested to idenify candiate supply sources

•	 Activated carbon trials commenced to confirm performance, 
specification and identify target markets and potential offtake 
partners

•	 Corporate Highlights
•	 Panasonic H2 fuel cell trial agreement

•	 HydroMOR patent granted in:

•	 Australia

•	 Hong Kong

•	 $22.8M Equity Lending Facility (ELF) established, providing potential 
future funding source as the Company looks to expand commercial 
production.

COLDry Demonstration Plant: Extruder commissioning 

COLDry Demonstration Plant: Conditioning system4
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER
Dear fellow shareholders,

This year has presented several opportunities of relevance to ECT. The decarbonisation needs of the industry 
remain an unresolved priority. Through its journey, ECT has led by investing in technologies that contribute to 
this decarbonisation, offering sustainable net zero options. Our next exciting stage is to commercialise these 
technologies with a laser focus on Bacchus Marsh.

ECT continued to progress our project at Bacchus Marsh, delivering the successful commissioning of the 
COLDry demonstration plant, followed by the detailed operational profiling of our new five-pass conditioning 
system, in concert with the trialling of a novel waste heat source from a co-located data centre.

The conditioning system trials successfully confirmed the 
operational envelope, allowing us to progress the finalisation 
of the design for the balance of the plant in preparation for 
installing the rotary kiln, which will enable the production of a 
range of valuable, in-demand products and kick off our race to 
revenue over the coming year.

Recognising the need for additional project delivery and 
commercial contract expertise, we began searching for an 
appropriately experienced candidate during the year and 
announced the appointment of our new Managing Director, 
Mr. Sam Rizzo, in August 2023. Sam has a wealth of experience 
across large-scale energy and resource projects, and we are 
very proud to have attracted someone of Sam’s calibre and 
experience in the energy transition sector to lead ECT through 
the next chapter of its growth.

Importantly, the underlying drivers for the commercialisation 

of our unique COLDry technology are stronger than ever.

Technical and economic solutions are needed as a priority in 
the commitment to decarbonise:

•	 Waste: there are increasing volumes of plastic-
contaminated organic waste that ends up in landfill

•	 Energy: nations are struggling with the energy trilemma, 
struggling to balance affordability, reliability, and 
emissions.

•	 Soil health: agricultural productivity is declining, and 
fertiliser costs are increasing.

•	 Green renewable energy is constrained—long lead times, 
expensive, mineral-intensive—and can’t address many 
hard-to-abate sectors.
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With the above in mind, we conducted biomass-blending test 
work during the year. We’ve been able to quantify and validate the 
opportunity to build a net zero, closed-loop solution around COLDry 
to help address some of these energy transition and industrial 
decarbonisation challenges facing the world.

Specifically, the blending of biomass with lignite holds the potential 
to create net-zero pathways for the production of hydrogen, char, 
activated carbon, and fertiliser. This innovative approach offers a 
way to make use of abundant lignite resources while simultaneously 
reducing carbon emissions.

Biomass-Lignite blending has significant benefits, including:

1.	 Utilisation of Low-Grade Resources: 

Lignite is abundant but has a higher carbon content than other coal 
types. By blending it with biomass, the carbon intensity is reduced, 
making better use of these resources while minimising emissions.

2.	 Carbon Neutrality or Negative Emissions: 

The integration of carbon capture and utilisation (CCU) or storage 
(CCS) technologies with biomass-lignite gasification can result in a 
carbon-neutral or even carbon-negative process, contributing to 
global climate goals.

3.	 Circular Economy: 

This approach embraces a circular economy concept by utilising waste 
biomass and lignite residues to produce valuable products while 
reducing waste and emissions.

4.	 Agricultural Benefits: 

The production of agricultural char and sustainable fertilisers can 
enhance soil quality, increase crop yields, and contribute to soil 
carbon sequestration, supporting sustainable agriculture.

5.	 Clean Hydrogen Production: 

Producing hydrogen through this method results in a cleaner energy 
carrier, which can help decarbonise various sectors, including 
transportation and industry.

In short, blending biomass with lignite to produce hydrogen, char, 
activated carbon, fertiliser, and other industrial chemicals offers a 
promising commercial avenue to address energy and environmental 
challenges simultaneously. This approach opens many commercial 
opportunities for ECT and can play a vital role in the transition to a 
more sustainable and carbon-neutral energy and industrial landscape 
while efficiently utilising abundant resources and reducing CO2 
emissions.

Sincerely,

 

Jason Marinko 
Chair 
Environmental Clean Technologies Limited
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Dear fellow shareholders,

I am excited to have joined ECT as the Managing Director and share with you 
the achievements of 2023 and the plans for 2024. I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank the Board for their confidence and support and the existing 
executive team for their acceptance and seamless transition. 
ECT has a significant opportunity to be a part of the 
solution to the decarbonisation challenge. 

Our patented, proven technology, COLDry, is a 
unique approach. By combining waste heat, biomass 
and Lignite, we create a net zero building block and 
enable a range of downstream applications and 
products which have an immediate value.

Having personal experience in renewable energy and 
large-scale projects in the context of what is needed 
to decarbonise, our pathway became immediately 
apparent:

•	 Adopt laser focus and discipline 

•	 Finalise Bacchus Marsh concept design - optimise 
return on investment

•	 Commercialise operations at Bacchus Marsh – 
generate revenue

•	 Finalise Supply and Offtake agreements – ensure 
certainty of cost and revenue 

•	 Develop Strategic Partnerships and explore 

collaboration opportunities which promote and 
benefit ECT and Shareholders

•	 Re-structure the organisation – aligned to the 
points above

This year, we have kept our operational focus on 
delivering the COLDry project at Bacchus Marsh.  

In December 2022, we successfully commissioned 
the COLDry facility at Bacchus Marsh, setting the 
basis for the current focus on the development of a 
commercial operating facility.

Supporting the decision around which applications 
and products to target, we have completed product 
testing, including end-user boiler trials, COLDry 
product analysis, gasification profiling, biomass 
blending and activated carbon trials.

The results are extremely encouraging, validating 
our COLDry product as an ideal (and, in most cases, 
superior) feedstock and building block for the 
production of high-value products like hydrogen-
heavy syngas, char and activated carbon.

MANAGING 
DIRECTOR’S 
LETTER
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We have invested in an exciting opportunity 
to demonstrate Panasonic’s H2 fuel cell on 
our Bacchus Marsh site. This first-of-a-kind 
demonstration in Australia further promotes 
ECT as a developer of net zero energy and sets 
the scene for the future conversion of hydrogen 
to electricity on-site as we add hydrogen 
production capability. 

Progress toward commercialisation required 
improved Project delivery capabilities and 
processes to ensure we maintain our laser focus 
and reach our targets.

In addition, we’ve been working dilligently to 
firm up site, supply and offtake partnerships to 
bookend the project while planning for potential 
future expansion.

In the following pages, I provide a brief overview 
of the Project, its status, strategy and drivers.

We are excited for the year ahead and expect 
a lot of progress as we commercialise our 
technologies into a market desperately seeking 
decarbonisation solutions.  

I’d like to thank all our shareholders and 
stakeholders for your ongoing support of ECT.

Sincerely,

Sam Rizzo 
Managing Director 
Environmental Clean Technologies Limited
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In line with the goals outlined and the release via the ASX in August, the team at 
ECT have undertaken a forensic analysis of the commercialisation of the Bacchus 
Marsh plant.
There are three scenario possibilities:

1.	 60,000 tpa

2.	 120,000 tpa 

3.	 240,000 tpa

Effort is being made to ensure any design decision 
does not preclude the expansion of the plant for 
future stages. In some instances, it may be necessary 
to invest in advance to guarantee growth can happen 
with minimal disruption to the operating plant.

These scenarios are currently being measured 
against a clear set of criteria, including:

•	 Throughput- raw material
•	 Land required 
•	 Capital Cost 
•	 Opex 
•	 	Shedule
•	 	Product stream
•	 Operational steady-state resources

Concurrently with the above, a techno-economic 
model is being developed, to comparatively assess 
the commercialisation options and the value they 
deliver to our Shareholders. The techno-economic 
modelling also considers the cost of supply, the 
revenue of offtake, the cost of capital, the rate of 
return on investment and sensitivity scenario analysis 
to book-end the investment.

An investment decision defining which scenario 
offers the best for ECT and shareholders is expected 
to be made in CY Q1 2024.

Bacchus 
Marsh 
Project 
UPDATE
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COLDry: Delivering net-zero Waste-to-Energy & 
Waste-to-X (WTX) applications

Organic 
Waste

Lignite

Waste 
Heat

COLDry

Dry Matter
40%

Moisture
60%

Dry Matter
88%

Moisture 12%

Input: 
Biomass & Lignite 2.2 
tonnes

Output:
COLDry 1 tonne

Concentrating the 
chemistry.

45% Material 
Decrease

0

5

10

15

20

25

M
J/
kg

Energy Uplift

Lignite COLDry

27
5%
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Scalable

Carbon 
Credit

Closed loop
Net Zero

Patented & 
Proven

Low CAPEX & 
OPEX

Biomass 
+ Lignite COLDry

Closed loop 
Pyrolysis

Char = $

Syngas + 
Heat

CO2

Value

Our unique, patented COLDry process takes organic waste, lignite and waste heat and cost-
effectively removes the mositure, concentrating the chemisty and enabling conversion of the 
resulting COLDry pellets into a range of higher value products, with a net-zero footprint.
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Products: Net Zero

Organic 
Waste

Lignite

Waste 
Heat

COLDry

Activated Char

Agricultural Char

Advanced Carbon

Syngas

Hydrogen

DME

Industrial Chemicals

Enabling-Waste to valuable products
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Demand: Multiple market opportunties

•	 Diversified downstream options

•	 Growth markets

•	 Hard-to-abate sectors

•	 Import replacement

•	 Soil Health

•	 Clean fuels

•	 Low carbon fuels COLDry

Fuel

Activated 
Char

Agricultural 
Char

Advanced 
Carbons

Syngas

Hydrogen

DME

Methanol

Formic Acid

Fertiliser

Wind and solar have made significant technical and 
economic advancements over several decades, however 
they do have their drawbacks:

•	 Long lead times

•	 Expensive

•	 Mineral intensive

•	 Ignores waste-to-energy (WTE) and waste-to-X (WTX) 
opportunities
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COLDry: 6 Key Steps 	D Powerfully simple
	D Zero Emission
	D Low temperature
	D Low pressure
	D Low cost
	D Proven
	D Patented

1
Screening & 
feed control

2
Shear & 
attrition

3
Extrude

4
Conditioning

5
Continuous 
Packed Pad 

Drying

6
COLDry 
Pellets

Waste Biomass + Lignite

Waste 
Heat
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1.	 COLDry zero-emission drying

2.	 Pyrolysis kiln

3.	 Syngas processing

4.	 H2 storage

5.	 Char silo

6.	 COLDry silo

7.	 Lignite bunker

8.	 Biomass bunker

9.	 ECT workshop

10.	 R&D centre

11.	 PV solar system

12.	 Data centre (basement) - waste 
heat

13.	 Panasonic fuel cells

COLDry: Bacchus Marsh Project

11

1

2
3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1012

13

Complete In progress Future

COLDry Demonstration 
Plant Commissioned  
31 December 2022

60,000 tonnes per 
annum throughput 
capacity
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Strategy
ECT is embarking on a race 
to revenue.

The COLDry 
demonstration plant 
will be commercialised, 
unlocking the ability to 
process organic waste and 
lignite to  manufacture 
a range of high value 
downstream products 
with a net zero footprint, 
in an economically 
and environmentally 
sustainable manner.

Starting with char, activated 
carbon and syngas, the 
plant will be capable 
of scaling production, 
progressing to a closed 
loop, net zero facility with 
the ability to produce a 
range of demand-growth 
products, including clean 
hydrogen. 

Commercialisation

Drivers

Race to Revenue:
2024 Supply & Offtake Organic growth:

240ktpa
Partnerships & 

Acquisitions Deployment

Low CAPEX & OPEX High Value
Products Demand Growth Net Zero Patented 

Technology

BM Plant Throughput 60ktpa 120ktpa 240ktpa

COLDry Output 27ktpa 54.5ktpa 109ktpa

Char & Syngas 13.5ktpa 27.2ktpa 54.5ktpa

Activated Carbon 4.7ktpa 9.5ktpa 19ktpa
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ECT COLDry: commecialisation into 2024

Q4 CY23

Finalise 
Design
and Pricing

Q1 CY24

Validate tender
Finalise contract
Award

Q4 CY24

Commission and 
Operations

Finalise supply & 
offtake

Q1 CY24

Commence 
construction

Q2 CY24

Steady state

Q4 CY24
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited (‘the Company’ 
or ‘parent entity’) and its controlled entities (collectively ‘the consolidated entity’ or ‘group’) for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Directors
The following persons were members of the board of directors 
(‘the Board’) of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited during 
the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated:

•	 Glenn Fozard - Managing Director (resigned 15 August 2023) *

•	 James Blackburn - Non-Executive Director

•	 Jason Marinko – Chairman, Non-Executive Director

•	 Tim Wise – Non-Executive Director (resigned 15 August 2023)

•	 Sam Rizzo – Executive Director (appointed 15 August 2023)

* Glenn Fozard was appointed Chief Operating Officer on 15 August 
2023

Principal activities
During the financial period, the principal continuing activities 
of the consolidated entity consisted of investment, research, 
development, and the commercialisation of technologies which 
bridge the gap between today’s use of low-grade and waste 
resources and tomorrow’s zero-emissions future with an emphasis 
on producing clean energy, soil health and battery carbon products 
for the energy and resource sectors. Such activities included:

•	 continuing to develop the Bacchus March plant (BM Project);

•	 developing commercial opportunities for the Company’s 
commercial site at Yallourn; and

•	 managing the development of, and extracting value from, the 
consolidated entity’s intellectual property.

Bacchus Marsh

Phase 1 of the BM Project focused on demonstrating the capacity 
of COLDry at a scale of 25,000 tonnes per annum, aiming to de-
risk the technology scale-up of COLDry ahead of integrating with 
pyrolysis to produce value added products like syngas and char, 
which is the commercial demonstration phase (Phase 2). Phase 1 
commenced in July 2020.

The continuation of Phase 1, over the reporting period, focused 
on completing the construction of the scaled-up COLDry plant 
and the commencement of commissioning. During this time, the 
Company trialled a new waste heat source from a data server farm 
installed on-site by a third party. This trial confirmed the suitability 
of this waste heat source to provide consistent low-temperature 
drying energy to the COLDry process and allowed for deployment 
ahead of other sources of waste heat, like the rotary kiln. Detailed 
engineering is currently being undertaken to integrate and expand 
the utilisation of waste heat from these other sources.

Phase 1 of the BM Project achieved the successful wet 
commissioning of the primary processing train during December 
2022 and included successful end-user trials of the COLDry pellets 
produced.

Phase 2 planning and detailed engineering activity is underway, 
encompassing site layout and civil works, kiln installation and 
planning for integration with the downstream plant and equipment 
to be provided by GrapheneX that will refine the syngas that ECT 
produces.

Yallourn & Other Opportunities

Over the reporting period, ECT investigated opportunities for the 
Yallourn commercial site as well as other opportunities in the 
broader Latrobe Valley area.

The decision was made to suspend developing direct opportunities 
at Yallourn until there was greater clarity on the future of lignite 
supply for the Yallourn mine, currently servicing the Yallourn 
Power Station and scheduled for closure in 2028. ECT continued to 
consider tenants for the iconic Yallourn Production Centre building 
built in 1923.

In March 2023, the Japanese Hydrogen Energy Supply Chain 
(HESC) consortia announced their commitment to invest $2.6B into 
hydrogen production from lignite at Loy Yang mine. ECT continues 
to prepare itself for the vendor selection process for the drying of 
lignite feedstock supplying this project.
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COLDry Process

The COLDry process is a low temperature, low pressure, and 
therefore a low-cost method of de-watering lignite to produce an 
upgraded black coal equivalent. The process has progressed from 
pilot-scale to demonstration-scale allowing techno-economic 
validation ahead of the intended broader commercial roll-out.

The COLDry process produces pellets that are stable, easily stored, 
can be transported, and are of equal or higher energy value than 
many black coals. When used in energy generation, COLDry pellets 
have a significantly lower CO₂ footprint than the lignite from which 
they are made, providing a compelling emissions abatement 
solution.

The COLDry process also acts as a ‘gateway technology’, making 
an ideal front-end feedstock that enables numerous higher value 
upgrading applications such as coal to hydrogen, syngas, char and 
iron production. When integrated with the HydroMOR process, the 
COLDry process provides an essential and cost-effective front-end 
drying and pelletising solution that enables the world’s first and only 
lignite-based primary iron production method.

Essentially, the COLDry process combines two mechanisms to 
achieve efficient, cost-effective de-watering; 

(i)	 lignite densification; and

(ii)	 waste heat utilisation. Lignite densification is achieved 
through the destruction of the internal porous structures, 
mobilising the structurally trapped water within the 
lignite. Waste heat utilisation provides ‘free’ evaporative 
energy to remove the moisture, thereby minimising paid 
energy input, resulting in net energy uplift and net CO₂ 
reductions.

HydroMOR (previously Matmor) Process

HydroMOR is an improved version of the previously named Matmor 
process, which is a cleaner, lower-emission, one-step process for 
producing high-grade primary iron, using low-cost lignite instead 
of expensive coking coal as used in the conventional blast furnace 
process.

HydroMOR is an improvement over the Matmor process, deriving 
further advantage from its unique raw material base, especially the 
hydrocarbon-rich lignite used in the role of reductant. The process 
derives its name from the utilisation of hydrogen from the lignite to 
drive the reduction process used to produce metals from ore.

The HydroMOR process leverages a fundamentally different 
chemical pathway compared to the conventional blast furnace 
process, enabling the use of alternative raw materials, providing a 
lower-cost primary iron making alternative.

HydroMOR creates a high-grade iron product from lignite and 
ferrous media such as iron ore, mill scale or other iron bearing 
wastes or tailings. The process involves blending lignite with iron 
ore or other metal oxide bearing media to form a paste that is 
dewatered using the COLDry process. The ‘composite’ pellets 
are then fed into the Company’s simple low cost, low emission, 
patented retort (vertical shaft furnace) where the remaining 
moisture is removed, the lignite volatiles are harnessed, and the 
iron oxides are reduced to metal.

The HydroMOR process operates below 900 degrees Celsius, 
compared to a blast furnace which operates at around 1500 
degrees Celsius. Lower temperature operation requires less energy 
input and results in less thermal stress on the plant, enabling 
lower-cost materials to be used in its construction.

HydroMOR metal product is an ideal feedstock for the production of 
specific grades and forms of iron and steel, via secondary processes 
such as electric arc, induction furnace or fully integrated steel 
making.

The benefits the Company sees in the application of the HydroMOR 
process include further reductions in capital cost due to its ability 
to achieve the required metal reduction at a lower temperature, and 

operating savings in terms of raw material efficiency improvements, 
as well as decreased CO₂ intensity. With the capital cost savings 
being applied to carbon offsets, this brings closer the potential of 
carbon emissions neutral steel production.

The group is yet to devote further resources to the development of 
this activity as the focus has been on the completion of the Bacchus 
Marsh commercial facility.

Intellectual property

The consolidated entity owns both the COLDry and HydroMOR 
intellectual property. Aspects of the COLDry process are covered by 
patents in markets with significant brown coal deposits.

In November 2017, the Company submitted a Patent Cooperation 
Treaty application following the submission of an Australian 
provisional patent application in November 2016. This is the next 
step in the intellectual property protection of the Company’s new 
HydroMOR technology platform. The filing sets in place the timetable 
for the subsequent national based process for IP protection, where 
individual patent submissions will be made in each geography of 
interest.

Due to its intrinsic reliance on COLDry for feedstock preparation, 
HydroMOR is afforded an additional degree of protection via 
COLDry patents. In markets where neither COLDry nor HydroMOR 
patents exist, the Company will employ other IP protection 
strategies.

During the period, the Company was granted patents for 
HydroMOR in Europe, Australia, and Russia, with patents pending in 
Poland, USA, Canada, India, China, and Indonesia.

Equity Lending Facilities (‘ELF’)

An ELF is an investment loan offered by ECT Finance Limited (‘ECTF’ 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) to approved holders 
of ECT’s options to pay for the exercise of options into fully paid 
ordinary shares. ELFs can also be secured by the issue of new shares. 
Loans are for a term of 2-3 years and accrue interest. The ELF 
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borrower owns the shares and the voting rights but cannot trade the stock until the loan and interest 
is paid in full. The ELF borrower can repay the loan or part thereof, at any time, without penalty during 
the course of the term. If the borrower does not pay the loan by the expiry, the loan defaults but is 
settled by ECTF taking control of the security (the ECT shares) and returning it back to ECTs balance 
sheet via a selective buyback or other similar method. The loan is limited recourse secured by the ECT 
stock and therefore the borrower is not exposed to any costs of the unpaid loan at the end of the term.

During the year, ECTF continued to manage its portfolio of ELF loan receivables. Refer to ‘Review of 
operations’ (subparagraph (iv) below) for details of ELF movements.

Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

Review of operations
The Company announced the appointment of a new Managing Director, Mr Sam Rizzo, and a further 
update to the development strategy, aimed at taking advantage of near-term revenue-generating 
opportunities, whilst continuing to conduct feasibility studies on longer-term projects. Broadly, the 
revised strategy to bring the Bacchus Marsh COLDry project into production can be split into four 
distinct phases (which the Company intends to pursue concurrently):

•	 ​Finalise design and engineering of the installation of the pyrolysis kiln, and subject to further 
funding, install the kiln which will enable the Company to produce and sell char;

•	 ​Conduct further feasibility to better understand the return between char and COLDry pellets and 
progress discussions with potential off takers;

•	 ​Conduct feasibility to increase production at Bacchus Marsh of both COLDry pellets and char;

•	 ​Conduct feasibility on using syngas and other fuels which provide low-cost, low emissions energy 
to critical industrial sectors.

The outcomes from this project will drive the development of the Company’s proposed large-scale Net 
Zero Hydrogen Refinery proposed for deployment adjacent to the Yallourn lignite mine in Victoria’s 
Latrobe Valley on land owned by the Company.

The R&D objectives of the project include:

•	 ​Completing scale-up from COLDry pilot scale:

•	 incorporating a fully bespoke 5-pass conditioning system; construction complete (status: 
commissioning complete);

•	 incorporation of a higher capacity primary processing train (status: construction complete, 
wet commissioning complete);

•	 incorporating packed bed dryer capacity and efficiency redesigns (status: scheduled for 
delivery under Phase 2);

•	 Integration with waste energy application (e.g., the char kiln and server farm) to provide drying 
energy for the COLDry process;

•	 The utilisation of syngas produced from the char kiln;

•	 Production of solid fuel COLDry pellets, to target specification;

•	 Production of char from solid fuel COLDry pellets, to target specification; and

•	 Integration with downstream hydrogen and formic acid (or similar hydrogen carrier chemicals) 
production plant.

The Company announced late last year the signing of a term sheet for the field trial of the Panasonic 
hydrogen fuel cell technology as part of its COLDry Project at JBD Industrial Park in Bacchus Marsh. 
Panasonic selected the Company for a trial of their hydrogen fuel cell in support of their global rollout 
of this technology.

•	 The fuel cell is capable of turning hydrogen into on-site electricity and power.

•	 The Company will demonstrate the Panasonic H2 fuel cell operations as part of a 3-year trial.

•	 The clean hydrogen for this demonstration may be supplied by the Company.

•	 Optimal Group Australia (‘Optimal’) is in partnership with Panasonic to install, commission, maintain 
and provide training to the Company on the operation of the fuel cell.

•	 During the year, the Company paid a deposit of $62,366 and the fuel cell was delivered to Optimal 
ahead of installation and commissioning works at Bacchus Marsh.

Major Highlights:
Environmental Clean Technologies Limited

(i)	 Receipt of research and development tax incentive
On 22 October 2022, the Company received the full amount of the research and development 
tax incentive receivable recognised in the financial statements at 30 June 2022 amounting to 
$1,794,182.

(ii)	 Progress of Phase 1 continued during the reporting period, despite residual COVID-related 
supply chain and labour market constraints, culminating in the successful completion of wet 
commissioning of the primary processing train in December 2022.

During November 2022, the Company announced the signing of a term sheet for the field trial of 
the Panasonic Hydrogen Fuel Cell technology as part of its COLDry and Net Zero Hydrogen Project 
at JBD Industrial Park in Bacchus Marsh, northwest of Melbourne.

A presentation, approved by Optimal and Panasonic, provides an overview of the technology and 
trial and is available on the Company’s website.
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(iii)	 Expiry of options

ECTOE options expired on 17 February 2023. Some options were converted to ordinary shares which were used as security for ELFs. Refer 
‘Equity Lending Facilities’ section below. Information on the expiry of director incentive options is contained in the ‘shares under options’ 
section below.

ECT Finance Limited

(iv)	 Equity Lending Facilities

•	 In 2020, ECT Finance Ltd advanced an ELF loan to the value of $750,000 to Mr Iain McEwin which was initially secured by 750,000,000 ECT fully 
paid ordinary shares and 300,000,000 ECTOE options (being pre the July 2021 share consolidation). This loan enabled Mr McEwin to subscribe 
for the balance of the shortfall of shares and options in connection to the non-renounceable rights issue made by the Company during that year.

•	 Since then, these shares and options have been mostly used for transfer to creditors in satisfaction of amounts payable and for transfer to 
vendors of the property at Yallourn which was purchased on 22 February 2022.

•	 In 2021, 274,679,966 shares and 106,658,654 ECTOE options were transferred to creditors. In 2022, 1,877,417 shares and 19,334,135 options 
were transferred to creditors in satisfaction of amounts payable and 25,000,000 shares were transferred to the vendors of the property at 
Yallourn, which the Company purchased on 22 February 2022, in partial settlement of this acquisition. Refer to note 33 for details. In 2023, a 
further 5,389,159 shares were transferred to creditors in satisfaction of amounts payable.

•	 This ELF loan was due to expire on 10 May 2023 and has been extended by one year. 6,988,053 shares were released from escrow from this 
ELF to pay creditors and executives in lieu of cash payments. The balance of shares held as security for the ELF at balance date was 15,265,428.

•	 In February 2021, ELFs were advanced as part of the non-renounceable rights issue and were secured by 1,300,000,000 shares and 520,000,000 
ECTOE options. After the 10:1 capital consolidation, the number of such instruments was 130,000,000 shares and 52,000,000 options. In 
February 2022, payments were received totalling $650,000 which resulted in the release of 65,000,000 shares and 26,000,000 options. In 
February 2022, the remaining 26,000,000 options were released from escrow prior to the options lapsing to enable the option holder to 
participate in the ELF in the same month. The balance of shares held as security for the facility at balance date was 65,000,000 shares.

•	 An ELF was established on 15 September 2021 using the Company’s shares as security. This ELF was approved by shareholders at an extraordinary 
general meeting on 25 June 2021. 35,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued which are held as security for 6 individual ELFs.

•	 Following shareholder approval at the Company’s annual general meeting (‘AGM’) in November 2022, ECTF announced a new ELF for the 
holders of ECTOE options. All option holders holding at least 333,334 ECTOE options were eligible to participate in the ELF. Applications for 50 
new ELFs were received which resulted in 760,358,891 ECTOE options being converted to the same number of ordinary shares. These shares 
are held as security for the ELFs, are escrowed, and cannot be traded by ELF holders until the ELF is repaid. The ELFs were drawn down on 17 
February 2023 and expire after 3 years. The total initial value of the ELFs was $22,810,767. One of the ELFs has since been forfeited with the 
1,598,894 shares that were securing the ELF subsequently used to pay creditors leaving 758,759,997 shares as security for the remaining 49 
ELFs.

At the end of the reporting period there was a total of 874,025,425 shares that are used as security for ELFs and are therefore escrowed.

Financial results:

The reportable loss for the consolidated entity was more favourable at $4,416,859 compared to the prior year loss of $5,178,833.
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2023
$

2022
$

Change
$

Change
%

Revenue - 257,597 (257,597) (100%)

Other income (excluding interest) 838,218 665,182 173,036 26%

Change in inventories (8,921) (125,378) 116,457 (93%)

Impairment and write offs (280,435) - (280,435) -

Remeasurement of financial liabilities 62,690 99,811 (37,121) (37%)

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 
(including Wood247 business)

- (233,677) 233,677 (100%)

Share-based payments expense (845,164) (1,928,786) 1,083,622 (56%)

Other operating costs (excluding 
interest, depreciation and amortisation)

(3,067,129) (2,938,078) (129,051) 4%

EBITDA (3,300,741) (4,203,329) 902,588 

Depreciation and amortisation (1,056,496) (675,746) (380,750) 56%

Finance costs (96,232) (311,832) 215,600 (69%)

Interest revenue 36,610 12,074 24,536 203%

Net (loss) for year (4,416,859) (5,178,833) 761,974 

There were no sales of products from the consolidated entity’s research and development activities 
during the year as a result of the ongoing construction of a new facility. Sales of $257,597 in the prior 
year related to sale of product from the Wood247 business prior to its disposal (see below).

The ‘Other Income’ category of $838,218 (2022: $665,182) predominantly includes AusIndustry research 
and development tax incentive income of $734,967 (2022: $598,997).

The research and development tax incentive received and receivable on the purchase of qualifying 
capital items has been offset against asset carrying values and is therefore not recognised as income. 
The offset for the year was $562,471 (2022: $1,212,333). The total amount expected to be received 
from the research and development tax incentive is $1,294,899 at year end.

Total cash operating costs excluding net finance costs (i.e., excludes impairment and write-off expense, 
depreciation and amortisation, remeasurement of financial liabilities, change in inventories and share-
based payments expense) was $3,067,129 (2022: $2,938,078), an increase of $129,051. This increase 
is largely due to the greater usage of engineering consultants during the year and the reduced use of 
share-based payments to pay suppliers.

Depreciation and amortisation increased by $380,750 as additional plant and equipment is placed in 
service at Bacchus Marsh. Depreciation and amortisation are non-cash expense items.

The remeasurement of the financial liabilities amounting to $62,690 consists of an increase in the 
COLDry earn-out provision of $373,862 netted against a gain on remeasuring the HydroMOR liability 
of $436,552. The latter occurred due to the Company’s decision to focus all short-term efforts on the 
commercialisation of COLDry technologies and putting a temporary pause to the development of 
HydroMOR. This has resulted in the future payments of deferred consideration relating to HydroMOR 
being considerably delayed resulting in the associated liability being remeasured down to an 
immaterial value.

Business risks
Provided below are the principal risks and uncertainties associated with the consolidated entity that 
could adversely affect its financial performance and growth potential in future years. The Company 
maintains a risk matrix with each risk subject to regular review by the Audit and Risk Committee. All 
risks on the matrix are given a risk rating to assess their probability and impact. New risks are added to 
the matrix as they are identified.

Environmental risks

The Company’s operations are subject to a number of broader environmental risks, including (i) 
climate change which includes changes in weather patterns, rising sea levels, and extreme weather 
events. These risks could have a significant impact on the Company’s operations, supply chain, and 
financial performance; (ii) water scarcity which could lead to increased costs for water and disruptions 
to operations; and (iii) waste management whereby the Company’s operations could generate 
a significant amount of waste which could lead to environmental damage, regulatory fines, and 
reputational risks. With respect to specific activities, the Company is not the subject of environmental 
regulations. However, as the Company considers commencement of operations through the COLDry 
plant, this status will change. Appropriate planning is in place to manage this transition.
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Social Risks

The Company’s operations are subject to a number of social risks, 
including (i) labour relations, the insufficient management of which 
could lead to operational disruptions; (ii) human rights, whereby the 
related risks could expose the Company to human rights violations, 
lawsuits, regulatory fines, and damage to the Company’s reputation; 
and (iii) product safety given that the Company’s pilot technologies 
are still in development phases and the outputs contain various 
volatiles associated with varying degrees of handling risk. Such risks 
could lead to financial losses, damage to the Company’s reputation, 
and lawsuits. The Company engages experts in employment law on 
any matter deemed to present a specific risk to the Company.

Governance Risks

The Company’s operations are subject to a number of governance 
risks, including (i) corruption - this could lead to financial losses, 
damage to the Company’s reputation, and regulatory fines; (ii) 
board oversight - the Company’s Board oversees the Company’s 
management. However, there is a risk that the Board may not 
be effective in carrying out this responsibility. This could lead 
to financial losses, damage to the Company’s reputation, and 
regulatory fines; (iii) shareholder activism - the Company is exposed 
to the risks of shareholder activism. This could lead to changes in 
the Company’s strategy, management, or governance structure. 
The Company has a number of policies and procedures in place to 
mitigate these risks. The Company also monitors these risks on an 
ongoing basis.

Macroeconomic and funding risks

The business is subject to macroeconomic risks such as a slowdown 
in economic growth, inflation, and rising interest rates. These 
can impact the Company by increasing the prices of the supplies 
of plant and equipment, labour and other inputs used in the 
construction of the Company’s plant and general operations 
of the Company. Debt funding to the Company becomes more 
expensive as interest rates rise which can place cash flow pressures 
on operations. The business mitigates funding risks by being 
significantly financed using R&D incentive rebates as well as 

using borrowings against such receivables at favourable interest 
rates. It maintains close relationships with equity brokers and 
shareholders who have to date shown confidence in the Company’s 
objectives to allow for significant funding via share placements, 
and debt funding arrangements that contain features allowing 
for the conversion of such debt to equity in the Company thereby 
preserving cash balances. The Company expects to finalise offtake 
and supply agreements ahead of completing construction at 
Bacchus Marsh and these agreements are expected to form the 
basis of new debt funding arrangements. In addition, should the 
Company’s share price increase, the Company is expected to have 
access to funds from the repayment of ELFs.

Strategic risks

Strategic risk is the risk associated with the implementation of the 
consolidated entity’s strategic research and development programs 
including the risk associated with failing to execute its strategy 
effectively or in a timely manner. The consolidated entity invests 
resources in the execution of initiatives that are aligned with its 
strategy, including programs focused on delivering to-market 
carbon emission mitigating technologies. There is a risk that these 
programs may not realise some or all of their anticipated benefits. 
The consolidated entity’s response is to ensure appropriate 
project governance measures are in place for all major initiatives 
and to track associated benefits that are derived. All significant 
technologies are protected by copyright and patents globally. The 
Company updates its strategy to align future plans with available 
resources. This was done most recently following the recruitment 
of the Company’s new Managing Director.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, people and systems or external events. 
The consolidated entity takes a risk-based approach to the 
management of operational risk and obligations. This enables it to 
appropriately identify, assess, manage and escalate operational 
risk-related exposures.

Cyber risk, privacy and data breach

Safeguarding the confidentiality and protection of all data 
encompassing that of our partners, staff, and company, remains of 
paramount importance. There has been a persistent rise in cyber-
attacks targeting both individuals and organisations. The character 
of these cyber- attacks is perpetually changing and may encompass 
sophisticated phishing schemes as well as attempts to penetrate 
essential infrastructure. Additionally, the privacy and security of 
our data could be compromised by violations of our information 
technology (IT) security, as well as unintentional or unauthorised 
data disclosures resulting from human error, malware, or 
espionage.

The consolidated entity handles personal and sensitive information 
through its technology systems and networks. The consolidated 
entity maintains continuous vigilance over cybersecurity threats 
and have engaged an external IT provider to implement robust 
security controls for our IT systems, infrastructure and data. These 
endeavours are based around industry best practices on how to 
mitigate cybersecurity risks. In addition, we also provide educational 
updates and training so that our people can recognise and properly 
respond to potential attacks.

Competitive market and changes to market trends

The consolidated entity operates in a competitive market with 
competition from other research and development entities around 
the world developing technologies that may achieve the same 
or better outcomes as those sought after by the consolidated 
entity. The consolidated entity’s response is to continue to refine 
its developing technologies so that they achieve maximum 
design efficiencies and minimise capital construction outlays. The 
Company is in the process of completing construction of its Bacchus 
Marsh facility which will help mitigate the risk of a competitor 
commercialising a product that may be of greater appeal to our 
potential customers.

23

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Environmental Clean Technologies Limited | Annual Report 2023 

Workplace, health and safety (‘WHS’)

The consolidated entity has a zero-risk tolerance for serious 
safety incidents. During the financial year, the consolidated entity 
continued to improve its WHS practices by using the existing safety 
culture across the business to continue to develop and train its 
workforce on WHS matters. Staff responsible for WHS undertake 
specific training.

Reliance on key personnel

The consolidated entity engaged in activities during the financial 
year to develop the skills and experience of potential successors 
as part of its succession planning initiatives. The Company recently 
hired a new Managing Director but retained the services of the 
previous Managing Director. The Company also retained the services 
of our previous Chief Operating Officer who is now a non-executive 
director. These decision were made to retain the considerable skills 
of these individuals within the Company.

Regulatory compliance

Represents the risk of failure to act in accordance with laws, 
regulations, industry standards and internal policies. The 
consolidated entity maintains sufficient internal controls to ensure 
continued compliance. From time to time, the Company is exposed 
to a regulatory compliance breach of which appropriate remedial 
steps are undertaken on a timely basis with employees and (if 
relevant) third parties. The Company regularly obtains external 
advice on any matter that presents specific risks to the entity on 
matters such as capital raising and employment law.
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Significant changes in the state of 
affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of 
the financial year

Board restructure

On 15 August 2023, Glenn Fozard and Tim Wise resigned from 
the Board of the Company. Sam Rizzo was appointed on this date 
as Managing Director of the Company and Glenn Fozard was 
appointed as Chief Operations Officer.

Capital raising

On 17 August 2023, the Company announced that it had received 
firm commitments to raise $2.0 million through the issue of 
363,636,363 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.0055 
per share (Placement). The Placement was offered to sophisticated 
and professional investors and was strongly supported by existing 
shareholders. Proceeds will support engineering works at the 
Company’s Bacchus Marsh production facility under a revised 
strategy designed to capture near-term commercial opportunities.

The Placement has resulted in the issuing of 349,126,363 new 
shares with the settlement proceeds received. The new shares 
rank equally with existing shares on issue and are issued using the 
Company’s existing capacities under ASX Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.1A, 
accordingly shareholder approval was not required. The remaining 
14,510,000 shares to be issued are subject to shareholder approval 
at the Company’s next AGM as the shares are intended to be 
issued to related parties.

Kaai Capital acted as Lead Manager to the Placement and was paid 
a fee of 6% of the amount raised which Kaai elected to receive 
in the form of 21,818,182 shares at the Placement price. They 
were also issued 50 million options, each with an exercise price of 

$0.011 expiring 3 years from issue. These securities were issued 
under the Company’s ASX Listing Rule 7.1 capacity and accordingly 
shareholder approval was not required.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2023 that 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated 
entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the 
consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and 
expected results of operations
Other than developments described in this report, further 
information on likely developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and the expected results of operations have not 
been included in this report because the directors believe it would 
be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated 
entity.

Environmental regulation
With respect to current activities, the Company is not the subject 
of environmental regulations. However, as the Company considers 
commencement of operations through the COLDry plant, this 
status will change. Appropriate planning is in place to manage this 
transition.
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Information on directors
The following information is reported as at the date of this directors’ report.

Name Jason Marinko

Title Non-Executive Director

Qualifications BCom, FFin, GAICD, MBA

Experience and expertise Mr Marinko is an experienced public company CEO, Director and Chairman, with expertise in the technology 
and investment banking industries and a proven track record in leading technologies to commercialisation. He is 
also currently a Non-Executive Director of legal tech innovator, Immediation Limited. Mr Marinko has extensive 
corporate finance and corporate strategy experience and holds an MBA from INSEAD Business School in 
France and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Other current directorships None

Former directorships (last 3 years) None

Special responsibilities Chairman of the Board

Interests in shares 10,072,603 ordinary shares; 867,097 unissued ordinary shares

Interests in options 40,000,000 director incentive options

Name James Blackburn

Title Non-Executive Director

Qualifications BAppSci, GradDip. (Governance)

Experience and expertise Mr Blackburn has a strong executive background as a corporate development practitioner with over 20 years’ 
experience in governance, operational, and technical roles across research, investment and corporate services 
disciplines.

Other current directorships None

Former directorships (last 3 years) None

Special responsibilities Chair of Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares 2,500,001 ordinary shares; 867,097 unissued ordinary shares

Interests in options 40,000,000 director incentive options
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Name Sam Rizzo

Title Executive Director (appointed 15 August 2023)

Qualifications BA (Urban and Regional). Grad Dip (Honours) in Urban and Regional Town Planning

Experience and expertise Mr Rizzo is a highly regarded project leader with more than 11 years’ experience delivering complex projects, 
renewable energy and supporting infrastructure to deliver optimal value and return on investment. He was most 
recently Regional Program Leader Europe for global energy transition leader, Fortescue Future Industries. This role 
led strategic corporate agreements for complex multi-billion-dollar projects, which involved entering contractual 
arrangements with a national utility provider as well as active green renewable entities.

Other current directorships None

Former directorships (last 3 years) None

Special responsibilities Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares None

Interests in options None

Name Glenn Fozard (resigned 15 August 2023)

Title Managing Director

Qualifications B.Bus (Int. Trade), BA (Psych)

Experience and expertise Glenn has a strong commercial background and extensive experience in finance and capital markets at both 
board and executive level. With a deep understanding of tailored financial solutions for SMEs in the Cleantech 
and Agricultural sectors, he supports the Company with valuable guidance in the technology development, risk 
management and capital raising areas. Glenn is the founding partner of Greenard Willing, a specialist financial 
advisory firm. Glenn held an advisory position with the Company prior to becoming a director in 2013.

Other current directorships None

Former directorships (last 3 years) None

Special responsibilities Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares 18,987,418 ordinary shares; 7,196,970 unissued ordinary shares

Interests in options None
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Name Tim Wise (resigned 15 August 2023)

Title Non-Executive Director

Qualifications BSc.

Experience and expertise Mr Wise is an experienced entrepreneur and Company Director with particular expertise in the 
energy, industrial innovation and technology sectors and has more than 20 years’ experience in 
public companies and capital markets. He was the founder and former CEO of Kalina Power Ltd 
(ASX:KPO) and The Tap Doctor, and is currently an Executive Director at Phos Energy Limited 
and a Non-Executive Director of Tamaska Oil and Gas Limited (ASX:TMK), Graft Polymer plc and 
Melchor Pty Ltd. He has a Bachelor of Science from the University of Western Australia.

Other current directorships Tamaska Oil and Gas Limited (ASX: TMK)

Former directorships (last 3 years) None

Special responsibilities None

Interests in shares 5,036,301 ordinary shares; 867,097 unissued ordinary shares

Interests in options 40,000,000 director incentive options

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of all other types of 
entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (in the last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and excludes 
directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
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Company secretary
Kian Tan is Company Secretary of the Company. Mr Tan is a Chartered Accountant with over 10 years of financial reporting, accounting, 
advisory and auditing experience and has a Bachelor of Commerce from Curtin University. The Company previously had joint company 
secretaries with Arron Canicais resigning on 31 July 2023.

Meetings of directors
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board and of the Audit and Risk Committee held during the year ended 30 June 2023, and the 
number of meetings attended by each director were:

Board Member
Full Board Audit and Risk Committee

Attended Held Attended Held

Glenn Fozard 15 15 4 4

James Blackburn 12 15 4 4

Jason Marinko 15 15 - -

Tim Wise 14 15 - -
Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office.

Retirement, election and continuation in office of directors
In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, at each AGM, one-third (or a number nearest to one-third and rounded up) of the 
directors (excluding a director appointed to either fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing directors) must retire by rotation 
as well as any other director who has held office for three years or more since last being elected and any other director appointed to fill a 
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing directors. Such directors can offer themselves for re-election.

At the 2022 AGM of the Company (held on 18 November 2022), Jason Marinko was re-elected as director.
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Remuneration report (audited)

The remuneration report details the key management personnel (KMP) remuneration arrangements for the consolidated entity, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

KMP are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the 
consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors.
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

•	 Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

•	 Details of remuneration

•	 Service agreements

•	 Share-based compensation

•	 Additional information

•	 Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and 
amount of remuneration
The Board’s remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the KMP’s 
duties and responsibilities and that the remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and 
motivating people of the highest quality. KMP remuneration is arrived at after consideration of the level 
of expertise each director and executive brings to the Company, the time and commitment required to 
efficiently and effectively perform the required tasks and after reference to payments made to KMPs in 
similar positions in other companies.

The non-executive directors are responsible for the executive reward framework and making 
recommendations on remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Board members and senior 
executives of the Company. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic 
objectives and the creation of value for shareholders and is consistent with market best practice. It is 
the aim of the Board that the executive reward structure satisfies appropriate corporate governance 
guidelines such that it is competitive and reasonable, acceptable to shareholders, aligns remuneration 
with KMP performance indicators, and is transparent to all stakeholders.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and 
executive director remuneration is separate.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. 
Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board may, from 
time to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure that non-executive 
directors’ remuneration is appropriate and in line with the market.

The aggregate non-executive director remuneration is determined at a general meeting. The maximum 
cash fee payable to non- executive directors for discharging their duties as directors is capped at 
$250,000 per annum.

Directors receive $50,227 per annum in director fees. During the year directors agreed, subject to 
shareholder approval at the next AGM, to take a portion of their remuneration in shares. For non-
executive directors, fees of $7,955 per director remain unpaid and for the executive director consulting 
fees of $65,000 remain unpaid. If shareholder approval is given to issue shares to settle these fees, 
the price of the shares will be the volume-weighted average price (VWAP) for the month in which the 
services were provided.

The Company maintains the following Non-Executive Directors’ and Executive Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy with respect to the provision of extra services on behalf of the Company or its business.

•	 Any remuneration paid to a non-executive director must be reasonable given the circumstances of 
the Company and the responsibilities of the non-executive director;

•	 Wherever practicable, the Company will obtain an independent quotation or estimate from an 
appropriate independent party in respect of those additional services;

•	 If the non-executive director is an appropriate person to perform those additional services, the 
remuneration must be benchmarked against any such quotation or estimate obtained by the 
Company;

•	 The Managing Director (or if absent, their delegate) must report to the Board on the budgetary 
impact to the Company of the proposed engagement of the non-executive director. Any engagement 
of a non-executive director to provide those additional services must be unanimously approved by 
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all directors (other than the non-executive director providing 
services);

•	 The non-executive director must report in writing to the Board 
at the completion of the additional services in such form as the 
Board may reasonably require;

•	 All amounts paid to non-executive directors in respect of 
providing those additional services will be disclosed in the 
annual financial statements of the Company; and

•	 The above policy also applies to entities associated with a 
director, where the additional services of the non-executive 
director are provided through that entity.

Executive remuneration

The Board is responsible for determining remuneration and 
nomination policies in respect of KMP. In establishing such policies, 
the Board is guided by external remuneration surveys and industry 
practices, commensurate with the scale and size of the Company 
’s operations. The remuneration levels are reviewed regularly to 
ensure the Company remains competitive as an employer.

Executive remuneration and reward framework

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four 
components which may comprise an executive’s total remuneration:

•	 base pay and non-monetary benefits;

•	 consulting fees;

•	 share-based payments; and

•	 other remuneration such as superannuation and long service 
leave.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and 
non-monetary benefits, is reviewed by the Board based on individual 
and business unit performance, the overall performance of the 
consolidated entity and comparable market remuneration levels.

The short-term incentives (‘STI’) payments in the form of incentive 
options may be granted to executives based on specific annual 
targets and key performance indicators (KPIs) being achieved. 

KPIs include share price, leadership contribution and project 
management.

The long-term incentives (‘LTI’) may include long service leave and 
shares or options.

Consolidated entity performance and link to 
remuneration

Remuneration is not directly linked to the performance of the 
consolidated entity.

Use of remuneration consultants

A remuneration consultant was not used during the year ended 30 
June 2023.

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 
2022 AGM

At the 2022 AGM, 99.3% of the votes received supported the 
adoption of the remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 
2022. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the 
AGM regarding its remuneration practices.

The function of reviewing and approving director and executive 
remuneration is undertaken by the Board.

•	 It is relevant to the discussion of remuneration that the 
consolidated entity is experiencing a substantial growth in the 
scope and complexity of its operations commensurate with 
implementation of its major strategic projects.

The Board has taken a number of steps recently to ensure that 
the Company’s remuneration structures remain appropriate in 
the context of both the Company’s operations and the level of 
responsibility and accountability that resides within director and 
executive roles. This activity has included:

•	 The Company, under guidance of the Board, periodically 
reviews its current and future staffing structure and executive 

leadership which supports the Company’s strategic plan.

•	 Any planned or additional executive recruitment programs will 
continue to be implemented in consultation with professional 
recruitment firms who, as part of this service, benchmark 
employee salaries to specific industries and broader market 
measures.

Throughout the financial year 2023, the Board has continued to 
assess its need for additional skilled resources and to measure this 
need against the additional costs of further appointments.

The Board will continue to review and assess its practices in this 
regard and ensure that it maintains the quality and depth of 
resources needed to execute its strategic plan.

The Board is confident that the Company’s remuneration levels 
appropriately balance the need to pay competitive remuneration 
to attract quality personnel to a company of this nature, and retain 
them, against the Company’s philosophy of “frugal innovation”. This 
is a difficult balance to strike and the Board will continue to review 
it.
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Details of remuneration
The KMP of the consolidated entity during the current financial year consisted of the following persons:

•	 ​Glenn Fozard – Managing Director (resigned as Managing Director and appointed Chief 
Operating Officer on 15 August 2023)

•	 ​James Blackburn – Non-Executive Director
•	 ​Jason Marinko – Chairman, Non-Executive Director

•	 ​Tim Wise – Non-Executive Director (resigned 15 August 2023)
•	 ​Ashley Moore - Chief Engineer
•	 ​Martin Hill – Chief Financial Officer
•	 ​Adam Giles – Marketing and Communications Manager

Sam Rizzo was appointed Managing Director on 15 August 2023.

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the KMP of the consolidated entity are set out in the following tables.

Short-term benefits Post- employment 
benefits Long-term benefits Share- based 

payments
Share- based 

payments

2023

Cash salary
and fees

$

Consulting
fees

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super-
annuation

$

Leave
Benefits

$

Equity- settled
Shares

$

Equity- settled
Options

$
Total

$

Non-Executive Directors

James Blackburn (i) 37,499 - - 4,773 - 7,955 58,740 108,967

Jason Marinko (i) 37,499 - - 4,773 - 7,955 306,049 356,276

Tim Wise (i) 37,499 - - 4,773 - 7,955 306,049 356,276

Executive Directors

Glenn Fozard (ii) 50,000 225,340 - - - 65,000 - 340,340

Other KMP

Ashley Moore - 220,413 - - - 20,000 - 240,413

Martin Hill - 226,687 - - - 3,500 - 230,187

Adam Giles 	 - 133,846 	 - 	 - 	 - 14,725 	 - 148,571 

162,497 806,286 - 14,319 - 127,090 670,838 1,781,030

(i)	 Non-Executive directors’ remuneration consists of a fixed fee. Each director has agreed to be paid $7,955 of their fixed fee in shares subject to shareholder approval at the next AGM. The issue price of the 
shares is the VWAP of the Company’s shares for each month (April to June 2023). Such remuneration is disclosed as an equity-settled share-based payment.
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Glenn Fozard’s remuneration consists of a fixed fee for being a director and consulting fees for the provision of executive services excluding GST. Mr Fozard has agreed to be paid $65,000 of his consulting fees 
in shares subject to shareholder approval at the next AGM. The issue price of the shares is the VWAP of the Company’s shares for each month (March to June 2023). Such remuneration is disclosed as an 
equity-settled share-based payment.

Short-term benefits
Post- 

employment 
benefits

Long-term 
benefits

Share- based 
payments

Share- based 
payments

2022

Cash salary
and fees

$

Consulting
fees

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super-
annuation

$

Leave
Benefits

$

Equity- settled
Shares

$

Equity- settled
Options

$
Total

$

Non-Executive Directors

James Blackburn (i) 32,197 - - 3,219 - 14,583 19,877 69,876

Jason Marinko (ii) 37,879 - - 3,788 - - 737,949 779,616

Tim Wise (ii) 37,879 - - 3,788 - - 737,949 779,616

Neil O’Keefe (ii) 4,167 31,250 - - - 14,583 - 50,000

Executive Directors

Glenn Fozard (iii) 35,417 267,000 - - - 14,583 226 317,226

Other KMP

Ashley Moore (iv) 4,717 193,158 - - - 14,583 - 212,458

Martin Hill - 215,059 - - - 18,774 2,263 236,096

Adam Giles 	 - 151,327 	 - 	 - 	 - 	 - 	 - 151,327 

152,256 857,794 - 10,795 - 77,106 1,498,264 2,596,215

(i)	 James Blackburn’s 
remuneration consists of a 
fixed fee.

(ii)	 Represents remuneration 
up to time of resignation 
as director/KMP or from 
date of appointment as 
applicable.

(iii)	 Glenn Fozard’s 
remuneration consists 
of a fixed fee for being a 
director, consulting fees for 
the provision of executive 
services excluding GST.

(iv)	 Ashley Moore’s 
remuneration consists 
of a fixed fee for being 
a director, consulting 
fees for the provision 
of executive serv ices, 
excluding GST, and a 2% 
interest discount on his ELF 
loans. Leave benefits paid 
are the payout of accrued 
leave entitlements when 
employment ceased.
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For the financial year, the proportions of fixed remuneration and remuneration that is linked to performance are as follows:

Fixed remuneration
%

Short term incentives
%

Long term incentives
%

Name 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Non-Executive Directors:

James Blackburn 46% 72% - - 54% 28%

Jason Marinko 14% 5% 86% 95% - -

Tim Wise 14% 5% 86% 95% - -

Neil O’Keefe - 100% - - - -

Executive Directors:

Glenn Fozard 100% 100% - - - -

Other KMP:

Ashley Moore 100% 100% - - - -

Martin Hill 100% 100% - - - -

Adam Giles 100% 100% - - - -
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Service agreements
The Company has no service agreements with KMP.

Share-based compensation

Issue of shares

During the year, the following shares were issued or issuable to KMP as part of their remuneration or in 
settlement of invoices:

Name Grant date Number
issued

Number
issuable

Issue 
price

$

Value
$

Glenn Fozard (i) Approval date - 2023 AGM - 7,196,970 0.009 65,000

James Blackburn (i) Approval date - 2023 AGM - 867,097 0.009 7,955

Jason Marinko (i) Approval date - 2023 AGM - 867,097 0.009 7,955

Tim Wise (i) Approval date - 2023 AGM - 867,097 0.009 7,955

Ashley Moore 30 June 2023 1,610,001 - 0.009 15,000

Ashley Moore (i) 30 June 2023 - 625,000 0.009 5,000

Adam Giles 30 June 2023 1,575,611 - 0.009 14,725

Martin Hill (i) 30 June 2023 - 437,500 0.008 3,500 

3,185,612 10,860,761 127,090 

Notes:
(i)	 During the year, directors and KMP agreed to take a portion of their remuneration in shares. For non-

executive directors, fees of $7,955 per director remain unpaid and for the executive director consulting 
fees of $65,000 remain unpaid. The issue of shares to directors is subject to shareholder approval. KMP 
are also owed amounts of $5,000 and $3,500 per the above table. Per the arrangement, the number 
of shares to be issued to settle the amounts payable is based on the actual volume-weighted average 
price (VWAP) for the month in which the services were provided. The average issue price overall 
represents the issue price displayed.
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Options

The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors and other key management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:

Name Grant date Option Type(i) Number of
options issued

Fair value per 
option

$
Expiry Date Exercise price

$

Total FY23 
remuneration

$

Jason Marinko 22 Dec 2021 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche D 10,000,000 0.0276 15 Oct 2025 0.025 80,910 

306,051 

Tim Wise 22 Dec 2021 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 0.025 75,047

22 Dec 2021 Tranche D 10,000,000 0.0276 15 Oct 2025 0.025 80,910 

306,051 

James 
Blackburn

24 Jun 2022 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0064 27 Mar 2025 0.05 47,166

24 Jun 2022 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0019 27 Mar 2025 0.05 4,730

24 Jun 2022 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0016 27 Mar 2025 0.05 3,750

24 Jun 2022 Tranche D 10,000,000 0.0014 27 Mar 2025 0.05 3,090 

58,736 

670,838 

Notes:
(i)	 For Jason Marinko and Tim Wise - Fair value was determined 

using an option pricing model at the grant date (being the 
AGM date of 22 December 2021) when the ECT share price 
was $0.037 per share. All options vest from 12 months after 
the agreement date which was 15 October 2021 and provided 
applicable 20-day VWAP targets are met at any time after the 
agreement date and prior to the expiry date as follows:

Tranche A VWAP - not applicable Tranche B VWAP - $0.025 
Tranche C VWAP - $0.035 Tranche D VWAP - $0.05

The fair value of these tranches has also been based on a 
100% probability of vesting after 12 months as all VWAP 
hurdles had been met at the grant date (i.e. measurement 
date). As such, all options vested during the year ended 30 
June 2023.

For James Blackburn - Fair value was determined using an 
option pricing model at the grant date (being the EGM date of 
24 June 2022) when the ECT share price was $0.016 per share. 
All options vest from 12 months after the agreement date 
which was 27 March 2022 and provided applicable 20-day 
VWAP targets are met at any time after the agreement date 
and prior to the expiry date as follows (percentages provided 
represent probabilities of vesting at grant date used in the 
valuation):

Tranche A VWAP - not applicable - all such options vested 
during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Tranche B VWAP - $0.06 (22%) - Vesting period is 3 years from 
grant date and subject to target VWAP being met. Tranche 
C VWAP - $0.08 (18%) - Vesting period is 3 years from grant 
date and subject to target VWAP being met. Tranche D VWAP 
- $0.10 (15%) - Vesting period is 3 years from grant date and 
subject to target VWAP being met.

VWAP targets had not been met at reporting date.
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Performance rights

There were no performance rights over ordinary shares issued to directors and other key management 
personnel as part of compensation that were outstanding as at 30 June 2023.

Additional information
The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 30 June 2023 are summarised below:

2023
$

2022
$

2021
$

2020
$

2019
$

Income 874,828 934,853 1,302,940 3,057,154 1,760,773

EBITDA (3,300,741) (4,203,329) 1,450,516 (1,071,920) (8,065,329)

EBIT (4,357,237) (4,879,075) 1,771,325 (1,458,528) (8,666,333)

Loss after income tax (4,416,859) (5,178,833) 1,869,725 (2,067,973) (8,903,016)

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholder’s return (‘TSR’) are summarised below:

2023 2022 2021 2020* 2019*

Share price at financial year end ($) 0.007 0.014 0.002 0.001 0.013

Basic loss per share (cents per share) * (0.277) (0.418) (0.226) (0.047) (0.250)
*Calculations prior to 2021 have not been restated for the effects of the share consolidation that 
occurred on 1 July 2021.

The Company’s remuneration policy seeks to reward staff members for their contribution to achieving 
significant milestones but there is no direct link between remuneration paid and growth in the 
Company’s share price or financial performance given that the Company is essentially still engaged in a 
research and development phase of operations.

Additional disclosures relating to key management 
personnel

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of KMP of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below.

Balance at
the start of

the year

Received
as part of

remuneration
Additions

Balance at
the end of
the year

Ordinary shares

Jason Marinko (ii),(iii) 5,072,603 867,097 5,000,000 10,939,700

Tim Wise (ii),(iii) 2,536,301 867,097 2,500,000 5,903,398

James Blackburn (iii) 2,500,001 867,097 - 3,367,098

Glenn Fozard (ii),(iii) 12,864,750 7,196,970 6,122,668 26,184,388

Ashley Moore (i),(ii),(iii) 20,552,402 2,235,001 5,560,000 28,347,403

Martin Hill (ii),(iii) 3,625,747 437,500 1,374,299 5,437,546

Adam Giles (i),(ii) 4,278,096 1,575,611 909,808 6,763,515 

51,429,900 14,046,373 21,466,775 86,943,048 

(i)	 Shares received as part of remuneration were as a result of settlement of consulting fee invoices 
from shares previously held in an ELF.

(ii)	 Additions were as a result of participation in the ELF where ECTOE options were converted to 
ordinary shares that are held in escrow as security for the ELF.

(iii)	 Certain KMP and directors have agreed to receive part of their consulting fees as shares at year-
end (subject to shareholder approval for directors). These have been recognised as share-based 
payments for the year. Shares will be issued based on a VWAP of the share price for the period 
March to June 2023. The average VWAP for that period has been determined to be $0.009 and the 
shares issuable are as follows: Fozard 7,196,970 ECT shares (total value $65,000). Each of Blackburn, 
Marinko and Wise 867,097 ECT shares (total value per KMP $7,955), Moore 625,000 ECT shares 
(total value $5,000), Hill 437,500 ECT shares (total value $3,500).
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Option holding

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of KMP of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set 
out below.

Options over ordinary 
shares

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Issued as 
compensation

Exercised 
during year

Other 
changes

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

Number held that have 
vested

Jason Marinko (i) 45,000,000 - (5,000,000) - 40,000,000 40,000,000

Tim Wise (i) 42,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 40,000,000 40,000,000

James Blackburn 40,000,000 - - - 40,000,000 10,000,000

Glenn Fozard (i) 6,122,668 - (6,122,668) - - -

Ashley Moore (i) 5,560,000 - (5,560,000) - - -

Martin Hill (i) 1,374,299 - (1,374,299) - - -

Adam Giles (i) 909,808 	 - (909,808) 	 - 	 - 	 - 

141,466,775 - (21,466,775) - 120,000,000 90,000,000

(i)	 Options were exercised on 17 February 2023 and converted to escrowed ordinary shares which are held as security for the ELF that was 
open to all option-holders holding at least 333,334 options.

ELF loans granted to allow exercise of ECTOE options held by KMP (including interest accrued to 30 June 2023): $

Jason Marinko (i) 157,159

Tim Wise (ii) 78,579

Glenn Fozard (iii) 192,446

Ashley Moore (iv) 174,761

Martin Hill 43,197

Adam Giles (v) 28,597 

674,739 

(i)	 Loan is in the name of Tessobel Pty Ltd

(ii)	 Loan is in the name of Finind Pty Ltd

(iii)	 Loans are in the name of Glenn Fozard or Anne Fozard

(iv)	 Loans are in the name of A & K Moore Nominees Pty Ltd and Perl M&C Pty Ltd

(v)	 Loan is in the name of Caracob Pty Ltd

Other transactions with key management 
personnel and their related parties

The Company entered into a rental agreement for a new forklift 
with Mr Fozard in a prior financial year. The agreement was fo 
r a 12- month term with monthly payments of $750 per month 
plus GST which has since been extended on a month-to-month 
basis. This arrangement replaced a prior rental agreement for a 
less suitable and older forklift with another supplier which was 
costing the Company $753 per month. The rental agreement was 
terminated in April 2023 after 10 payments had been made in the 
current financial year.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.
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Shares under option
Unissued ordinary shares under option as at the date of this report are as follows:

Option class Expiry date Exercise price Number under option

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (i) 15 October 2024 $0.025 20,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (ii) 15 October 2024 $0.025 20,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (iii) 15 October 2024 $0.025 20,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (iv) 15 October 2025 $0.025 20,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (v) 27 March 2025 $0.050 10,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (vi) 27 March 2025 $0.050 10,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (vii) 27 March 2025 $0.050 10,000,000

Unlisted ordinary director incentive options (viii) 27 March 2025 $0.050 10,000,000

Unlisted options (ix) 28 August 2026 $0.011 50,000,000 

170,000,000 

(i)	 10,000,000 options issued to both Mr Marinko and Mr Wise which vest 12 months from the 
agreement date of 15 October 2021 and expire 3 years from the agreement date (Tranche A)

(ii)	 10,000,000 options issued to both Mr Marinko and Mr Wise which vest no earlier than 12 months 
from the agreement date of 15 October 2021 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.025 or higher at any time prior 
to expiry which is 3 years from the agreement date (Tranche B)

(iii)	 10,000,000 options issued to both Mr Marinko and Mr Wise which vest no earlier than 12 months 
from the agreement date of 15 October 2021 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.035 or higher at any time prior 
to expiry which is 3 years from the agreement date (Tranche C)

(iv)	 10,000,000 options issued to both Mr Marinko and Mr Wise which vest no earlier than 12 months 
from the agreement date of 15 October 2021 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.050 or higher at any time up 
to expiry which is 4 years from the agreement date (Tranche D)

(v)	 10,000,000 options issued to Mr Blackburn which vest 12 months from the agreement date of 27 
March 2022 and expire 3 years from the agreement date (Tranche A)

(vi)	 10,000,000 options issued to Mr Blackburn which vest no earlier than 12 months from the agreement 
date of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.06 or higher at any time prior to expiry which is 3 
years from the agreement date (Tranche B)

(vii)	10,000,000 options issued to Mr Blackburn which vest no earlier than 12 months from the agreement 
date of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.08 or higher at any time prior to expiry which is 3 
years from the agreement date (Tranche C)

(viii)	10,000,000 options issued to Mr Blackburn which vest no earlier than 12 months from the agreement 
date of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.10 or higher at any time prior to expiry which is 3 
years from the agreement date (Tranche D)

(ix)	 50,000,000 options were issued to Kaai Capital Pty Ltd on 28 August 2023 exercisable at $0.011 
and expiring 3 years from issue date as part remuneration for acting as lead manager for a share 
placement.

The options table above does not include the in-substance issue of options (ELF Options) relating to 
arrangements involving the issue of shares financed by limited recourse loans. Accounting for such as an 
in-substance issue of options is a requirement of accounting standards.

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in 
any share issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.
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Shares under performance rights
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited under 
performance rights outstanding at the date of this report.

Shares or interests issued on the exercise of options

In the current and previous financial years, shares were issued that were financed by an ELF with ECT 
Finance Ltd. The details of these facilities are disclosed within the Annual Report (refer to note 17 and 
note 18 of the financial statements for details). Shares issued under the ELFs are held as security and 
remain restricted from trading until the debt issued to the respective shareholders has been repaid 
and the shares released. These shares are accounted for as the in-substance issue of options for 
accounting purposes.

During the reporting period, 760,358,891 shares were issued which were the security for 50 new ELFs. 
The shares were issued from the conversion of ECTOE options. These ELFs were drawn down on 17 
February 2023 and expire after 3 years. One of these ELFs has since been forfeited with the 1,598,894 
shares securing this ELF subsequently used to pay creditors leaving 758,759,997 shares as security for 
the remaining 49 ELFs.

During the prior reporting period, 35,000,000 shares were issued which are the security for 6 ELFs. 
These ELFs were approved by shareholders on 25 June 2021, were drawn down on 15 September 
2021 and expire after 3 years.

On 10 May 2020, the Company commenced an ELF using the remaining 75,000,000 shortfall shares 
and 30,000,000 shortfall options (post share consolidation quantities) from a non-renounceable rights 
issue. The term of this ELF was 1 year and has been extended by three years. Since the commencement 
of this ELF 59,734,572 shares and all options have been released to suppliers in lieu of payments in 
cash or as partial settlement for the property purchased in Yallourn. In the current financial year, two 
of these suppliers were Ashley Moore and Adam Giles who are KMP of the Company (refer to KMP 
disclosures above). A total of 15,265,428 shares were held as security for this ELF as at 30 June 2023.

A further ELF was established using 916,407,834 shares that were previously used as security for 
expired ELFs. These shares were subsequently used as security for 4 new ELFs commencing 15 January 
2021 for a term of 2 years. The issue of a further 383,592,166 shares was approved at a prior AGM 
which were also used as security for these ELFs. Total shares held as security for these ELFs was 
1,300,000,000 (130,000,000 shares post share consolidation). In February 2022, payments for 3 of 
these ELFs were received and 65,000,000 shares were released leaving 65,000,000 shares securing the 
remaining ELF on 30 June 2023. The remaining ELF has had its term extended by one year.

As at 30 June 2023, there were therefore 874,025,425 (2022: 120,654,587) shares on issue and held as 
security where monies (principal and interest loans) are owing to the Company. Should loans remain 

unpaid at expiry, ECTF has recourse to those shares held as security and may settle the outstanding 
debt with the borrower via a number of mechanisms including but not limited to a) disposal of shares 
on the market with the proceeds used to repay the loan and b) selective buy-back in exchange for debt 
forgiveness by the parent company.

Shares issued on the exercise of performance rights
There were no ordinary shares of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited issued on the exercise of 
performance rights during the year ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this report.

Indemnity and insurance of officers

The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in 
their capacity as a director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where 
there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors 
and executives of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 
2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the 
premium.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

The Company has not, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor 
of the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the 
auditor of the Company or any related entity.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company 
is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those 
proceedings.

Non-audit services
There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Officers of the Company who are former partners of 
BDO Audit Pty Ltd
There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of BDO Audit Pty Ltd.

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 follows this directors’ report.

Auditor
BDO Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. On behalf of the directors

Jason Marinko 
Chairman

31 August 2023 
Perth
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General Information
The financial statements comprise those of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited as a 
consolidated entity consisting of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited (‘the Company’) and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year (together referred to as ‘the consolidated 
entity’). The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the consolidated entity’s 
functional and presentation currency.

Environmental Clean Technologies Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Suite 37, 209 Toorak Road 

South Yarra, VIC, 3141 

Australia

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities are 
included in the directors’ report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 31 
August 2023. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Consolidated

Note 2023
$

2022
$

Revenue 4 - 257,597

Other income 5 838,218 665,182

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 	 36,610 12,074 

Total income 	 874,828 934,853 

Expenses

Remeasurement of other financial liabilities 6 62,690 99,811

Changes in inventories (8,921) (125,378)

Corporate costs (2,616,232) (3,425,263)

Legal costs (94,844) (65,460)

Employee benefits expense 6 (375,034) (277,893)

Sales and marketing (198,973) (435,565)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (1,056,496) (675,746)

Impairment of assets 10 (148,435) -

Impairment of receivables 8 (132,000) -

Engineering and pilot plant costs (437,172) (542,033)

Occupancy expense (134,443) (85,687)

Travel and accommodation (55,595) (34,963)

Finance costs 6 (96,232) (311,832)

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment and Wood247 business 6 - (233,677)

Total expenses (5,291,687) (6,113,686)

Loss before income tax expense (4,416,859) (5,178,833)

Income tax expense 7 - -

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited (4,416,859) (5,178,833)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of Environmental Clean Technologies Limited (4,416,859) (5,178,833)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note Cents Cents

Basic loss per share 32 (0.277) (0.418)

Diluted loss per 
share 32 (0.277) (0.418)
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2023

Consolidated

Note 2023
$

2022
$

As
se

ts

Cu
rr

en
t

As
se

ts

Cash and cash equivalents 1,286,235 4,403,198

Trade and other receivables 8 1,665,401 2,160,440

Other 56,769 53,351 

Total current assets 3,008,405 6,616,989 

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 
As

se
ts

Property, plant and equipment 10 4,636,921 4,655,378

Right-of-use assets 9 384,312 484,671

Intangibles 11 152,550  203,400 

Total non-current assets 5,173,783 5,343,449 

Total assets 8,182,188  11,960,438 

Li
ab

ili
tie

s Cu
rr

en
t L

ia
bi

liti
es

Trade and other payables 12 692,510 682,440

Borrowings 13 1,968,000 1,968,000

Lease liabilities 14 138,097 157,628

Provisions 15 19,877 5,531

Other financial liabilities 16 -	 23,012 

Total current liabilities 2,818,484 2,836,611 

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s

Lease liabilities 14 273,354 389,701

Provisions 15 18,412 1,864

Other financial liabilities 16 1,638,889 1,678,567 

Total non-current liabilities 1,930,655 2,070,132 

Total liabilities 4,749,139 4,906,743 

Net assets 3,433,049  7,053,695

Eq
ui

ty

Issued capital 17 88,961,632 88,943,874

Reserves 18 2,273,681 3,176,866

Accumulated losses (87,802,264) (85,067,045)

Total equity 3,433,049 7,053,695 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Consolidated Issued capital
$

Reserves
$

Accumulated
losses

$
Total equity

$

Balance at 1 July 2021 81,091,892 118,285 (79,888,212) 1,321,965

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (5,178,833) (5,178,833)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (5,178,833) (5,178,833)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs (note 17) 384,136 - - 384,136

Share-based payments (note 33) 989,607 2,267,241 - 3,256,848

Options exercised 865 - - 865

Issue of shares and options on conversion of promissory (note 17) 1,479,174 791,340 - 2,270,514

Release of shares on repayment of ELF loans (note 17) 650,000 - - 650,000

Share placement (note 17) 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

Share issue costs (651,800) - - (651,800)

Balance at 30 June 2022 88,943,874 3,176,866 (85,067,045) 7,053,695

Consolidated Issued capital
$

Reserves
$

Accumulated
losses

$
Total equity

$

Balance at 1 July 2022 88,943,874 3,176,866 (85,067,045) 7,053,695

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (4,416,859) (4,416,859)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 	 - 	 - 	 - 	 - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (4,416,859) (4,416,859)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Share-based payments (note 33) - 777,906 - 777,906

Issue of shares (net) (note 17) 17,758 - - 17,758

Transfer expired options (note 18) - (1,681,640) 1,681,640 -

Premium received on ELF options (note 18) 	 - 	 549 	 - 	 549 

Balance at 30 June 2023 88,961,632 2,273,681 (87,802,264) 3,433,049

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Consolidated

Note 2023
$

2022
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) - 221,793

Research and development tax incentive (inclusive of GST) 1,794,182 1,988,683

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (3,451,734) (4,494,157)

Government grants - 14,933

Interest received 36,610 12,074

Other income 121,625 -

Interest and other finance costs paid (96,232) (93,194)

Net cash used in operating activities 29 (1,595,549) (2,349,868)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (1,401,907) (3,226,365)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment and Wood247 business 30,250 93,500

Payments of security deposits (11,825) -

Receipts of security deposits 16,477 - 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,367,005) (3,132,865)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares - 5,650,865

Payment of equity raising costs - (314,000)

Proceeds from issue of convertible promissory notes - 3,000,000

Proceeds from other borrowings - 1,968,000

Repayment of borrowings - (1,259,039)

Repayment of lease liabilities (154,958) (174,385)

Receipts of options premiums 549 - 

Net (used in)/cash from financing activities (154,409) 8,871,441 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,116,963) 3,388,708

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 4,403,198 1,014,490 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 1,286,235 4,403,198 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT

Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2023

Note 1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

New or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations adopted

The consolidated entity has adopted all new or amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current 
reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that 
are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

Going concern

For the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the consolidated 
entity had an operating net loss after tax of $4,416,859 (2022: 
$5,178,833), net cash outflows from operating activities of 
$1,595,549 (2022: net cash outflows of $2,349,868), net current 
assets at the reporting date of $189,921 (2022: net current assets 
of $3,780,378) and net assets of $3,433,049 (2022: net assets of 
$7,053,695). The consolidated entity currently does not have a 
material source of revenue and is reliant on receipt of research and 
development tax incentives, possible ELF loan repayments, equity 
capital or loans from third parties to meet its operating costs.

The ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon a 
number of factors, one being the continuation and availability of 
funds. The reliance on future funding described above indicates 
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 

financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the 
consolidated entity is a going concern which contemplates the 
continuity of its business, realisation of assets and the settlement 
of liabilities in the normal course of business.

To this end, the consolidated entity is expecting to fund ongoing 
obligations as follows:

•	 utilisation of its current cash resources;
•	 additional debt facilities;
•	 principal paid and interest earned from current or new 

ELF debt arrangements (treated as capital injections); and
•	 issuance of the Company’s securities under ASX Listing 

Rule 7.1.

The Company is currently in discussions with Invest Victoria in 
relation to extending the its R&D funding loan beyond the current 
contractual maturity date of 31 October 2023 with the aim of 
repaying the loan from R&D incentives received in relation to the 
R&D incentive refund receivable in relation to the current financial 
year. The directors are confident of a favourable outcome in relation 
to this negotiation.

Based on the above information and cash flow forecasts prepared, 
the directors are of the opinion that the consolidated entity is well 
positioned to meet its objectives and obligations going forward and 
therefore that the basis upon which the financial statements are 
prepared is appropriate in the circumstances.

Should the consolidated entity be unable to continue as a going 

concern, it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish 
its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at 
amounts that differ from those stated in the financial statements. 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to 
the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or to 
the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessarily 
incurred should the consolidated entity not continue as a going 
concern.

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for 
for- profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention except for financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, derivative financial instruments and 
contingent consideration that has been measured at fair value.
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Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
consolidated entity’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial 
statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in 
note 26.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and 
liabilities of all subsidiaries of Environmental Clean Technologies 
Limited (‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2023 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Environmental 
Clean Technologies Limited and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in these financial statements as the ‘consolidated 
entity’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated 
entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity when 
the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the consolidated entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition 
method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, without 
the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where 
the difference between the consideration transferred and the 
book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is 
recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent.

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it 
derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative 
translation differences recognised in equity. The consolidated 
entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and 
the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or 
loss in profit or loss.

Operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management 
approach’, where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the allocation of 
resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is Environmental Clean Technologies Limited’s functional 
and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

The consolidated entity recognises revenue as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the consolidated entity is expected to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For 
each contract with a customer, the consolidated entity: identifies 
the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations 
in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into 
account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of 
money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price 
of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises 
revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a 
manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or 
services promised.

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects 
concessions provided to the customer such as discounts, rebates 
and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer 
and any other contingent events. Such estimates are determined 
using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most likely amount’ method. 
The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a 
constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to 
the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The 
measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are 
recognised as a refund liability.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time 
when the customer obtains control of the goods, which is generally 
at the time of delivery.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Other income

Research and development tax incentive

The consolidated entity has adopted the income approach to 
accounting for research and development tax offsets pursuant to 
AASB 120 ‘Accounting for Government Grant and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance’ whereby the incentive is recognised in 
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
consolidated entity recognises the eligible expenses. Where the 
incentive is directly attributable to the acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment, the incentive is used to offset the initial cost 
incurred.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the 
effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest 
income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to 
receive payment is established.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure in respect of research and development is charged 
to profit or loss as incurred. Development costs will be capitalised 
when: it is probable that the project will be a success considering 
its commercial and technical feasibility; the consolidated entity is 
able to use or sell the asset; the Group has sufficient resources 
and intent to complete the development; and its costs can be 
measured reliably.

Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable 
on that period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax 
rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused 
tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where 
applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary 
differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that 
are enacted or substantively enacted, except for:

•	 when the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
nor taxable profits; or

•	 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, 
and the timing of the reversal can be controlled, and it is 
probable that, the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount 
to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future 
taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; 
and they relate to the same taxable authority on either the same 

taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle 
simultaneously.

Environmental Clean Technologies Limited (the ‘head entity’) and 
its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income 
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The 
head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group 
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax 
amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the ‘stand-alone 
taxpayer’ approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes 
to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head 
entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the 
tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from 
or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax 
funding arrangement ensures that the intercompany charge equals 
the current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group 
member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to 
the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head 
entity.

Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial 
position based on current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be 
realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the entity’s normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is 
expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; 
or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being 
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be 
settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily 
for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months 
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after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-
current.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held 
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable for the research and development tax incentive 
receivable is recognised at the time that the eligible expenditure has 
been incurred and the consolidated entity has reasonable certainty 
that the amounts will be received.

Investments and other financial assets

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at 
fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Such assets are subsequently measured at either amortised 
cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is 
determined based on both the business model within wh ich such 
assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset unless an accounting mismatch is being avoided.

Impairment of financial assets

The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on financial assets which are either measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon 
the consolidated entity’s assessment at the end of each reporting 
period as to whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable 
and supportable information that is available, without undue cost 

or effort to obtain.

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to 
credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected credit 
loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset’s 
lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable to a default event 
that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset 
has become credit impaired or where it is determined that credit 
risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the 
asset’s lifetime expected credit losses. The amount of expected 
credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability 
weighted present value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of 
the instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
Historical cost may be reduced by amounts of research and 
development incentive received that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset.

For the purposes of establishing the expected useful life, assets are 
defined as either ‘commercial’ or ‘research and development’.

Depreciation is charged to write off the net cost of each item 
of property, plant and equipment over its expected useful life. 
Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a diminishing 
value basis whilst depreciation of furniture and fittings and office 
equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis. The useful life of 
each class of asset is as follows:

•	 Plant and equipment	 3 to 10 years
•	 Furniture and fittings	 3 years
•	 Office equipment		  3 years

Depreciation of research and development assets is calculated on a 
straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and 
equipment over its expected useful life within a defined research 
and development program context as follows:

•	 COLDry research and development plant and equipment 

upgrades	 3 - 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount 
and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a 
lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs 
incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, 
an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and 
removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of 
the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity 
expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of 
the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. 
Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use 
asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with 
terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease 
payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, 
other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at 
the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately 
are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are 
not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any 

50

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Environmental Clean Technologies Limited | Annual Report 2023 

ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
impairment. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any 
impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible 
assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. 
Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by 
changing the amortisation method or period.

Research and development

Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are 
capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and 
technical feasibility; the consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset; the consolidated entity has 
sufficient resources and intent to complete the development; and its costs can be measured reliably. 
Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected 
benefit, being their finite life of 10 years.

Intellectual property

Significant costs associated with intellectual property are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the period of their expected benefit being their estimated useful life of 20 years.

Right of access - mining

Costs in relation to payments to a supplier allowing the supplier to upgrade mining plant in return for 
the secure supply of raw material to the consolidated entity are accounted for as the acquisition of a 
right of access which will be amortised from the date of commencement of supply for a period of five 
years being the term of the contract.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The 
value-in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax 
discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do 
not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity 
prior to the end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are 
measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition.

Borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net 
of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Lease liabilities

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially 
recognised at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that ra te cannot be readily determined, 
the consolidated entity’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less 
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the 
exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The 
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in whi ch 
they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying 
amounts are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a 
change in an index, or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option 
and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the 
corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is 
fully written down.

Other financial liabilities

Deferred and contingent consideration and earn-out liabilities were initially recognised at fair value. At 
each reporting date, the deferred and contingent consideration and earn-out liabilities are reassessed 
against revised estimates and any increase or decrease in the net present value of the liability will 
result in a corresponding gain or loss to profit or loss.
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Finance costs

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part 
of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred, including interest on short-term and long-
term borrowings. The unwinding of the discount on the present 
value of future cash flows associated with deferred consideration 
and earn-out provisions is recognised as finance costs.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, 
annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liabilities for annual leave and long service leave that are not 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 
are measured as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms 
to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to 
employees.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options 
over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of 
cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash is 
determined by reference to the share price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value 
on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using either 
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into 
account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of 
dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility 
of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk 
free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-
vesting conditions that do not determine whether the consolidated 
entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive 
payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based 
on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the 
number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of 
the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the 
period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date 
less amounts already recognised in previous periods.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining 
fair value. Therefore, any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market 
condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is 
recognised as if the modification has not been made. An additional 
expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the 
consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition 
is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the 
control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied 
during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is 
recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is 
forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense is 
recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted 

for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is treated as 
if they were a modification.

Fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured 
at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value 
is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the 
transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, 
the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best use. 
Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three 
levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are 
reviewed at each reporting date and transfers between levels are 
determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement.

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external 
valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not available 
or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers 
are selected based on market knowledge and reputation. Where 
there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from 
one period to another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a 
verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a 
comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data.
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Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to the owners of Environmental Clean Technologies 
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary 
shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements 
in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST 
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or 
other payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of 
cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as 

operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory 
or early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 
not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2023. The consolidated entity has 
not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue 
and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience 
and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom 
equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective 
notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The consolidated entity estimates the effective life of intellectual property to be 20 years and 
amortises these assets on a straight-line basis. Where the resulting effective life differs from that 
recognised, the impact will be recorded in profit or loss in the period such determinations are made.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets at each reporting date by 
evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular asset that may lead to 
impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This 
involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions.

Income tax

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in Australia. The consolidated entity estimates its tax 
liabilities based on the understanding of the tax laws and advice from tax experts. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters differs from the initially recorded, such differences will impact the current 
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period such determinations are made.

Earn-out provision - COLDry

The earn-out provision is recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows to be made pursuant to the agreement. In determining the present value of the liability, significant 
unobservable inputs are used including the discount rate applied to future cash flows, and estimates of 
expected timing and quantities of production using probability weightings. Refer to note 16.

Deferred consideration - HydroMOR

The deferred consideration liability has been calculated based on discounted cash flow projections. 
In determining the present value of the liability, significant unobservable inputs are used including 
(i) consideration of events that would trigger a cash outflow pursuant to the deferred consideration 
structure (ii) the probabilities assigned to each event; and (iii) the discount rate applied to future cash 
flows. Refer to note 16.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity 
considers it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset.

Lease term

The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease 
liability. Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to 
extend the lease or purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will 
not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the 
lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension 
option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. 
Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the consolidated entity’s operations; 
comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; 
existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The 
consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not 
exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances.

Research and development tax offset

The consolidated entity adopts the income approach to accounting for the research and development 
tax offset pursuant to AASB 120 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance’. The directors have concluded that the consolidated entity has developed sufficient systems 
and knowledge to allow reasonable assurance to be obtained with respect to the measurement and 
recognition of tax rebates receivable at the time of incurring eligible expenses.
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Note 3. Operating segments

Identification of reportable operating segments
The consolidated entity’s operating segment is based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the Board (being the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’)) in assessing performance 
and in determining the allocation of resources. The consolidated entity operates predominantly in the 
environmental and energy industry, and a single geographic segment being Australia.

The CODM reviews operating performance of the consolidated entity based on management 
reports that are prepared. At regular intervals, the CODM is provided management information at a 
consolidated entity level for the consolidated entity’s cash position, the carrying values of intangible 
assets and a consolidated entity cash forecast for the next 12 months of operation. On this basis, no 
segment information is included in these financial statements.

Types of products and services

The principal products and service of the operating segment is as follows:

ECT (COLDry): ECT represents the consolidated entity’s primary activities of investment, research, 
development and commercialisation of technologies relating to COLDry.

ECT Finance 
(‘ECTF’):

ECTF is a subsidiary of the group and represents the ELF activities of the 
consolidated group. ECTF lends to shareholders at commercial interest rates allowing 
them to finance the acquisition of shares in the Company through limited recourse 
loan arrangements.

ECT provides funding to ECTF via intersegment loan accounts allowing ECTF to then advance funds to 
ECT shareholders (i.e. ELF borrowers) for the purpose of exercising their ECT options and acquiring 
shares in ECT. The shares in ECT are held as security by ECTF against the ELF borrowings until such time 
as principal and interest payments are made. ECTF may release partial allocations of ECT shares on 
receipt of repayments of ELF borrowings.

The loan made by ECT to ECFT is interest-bearing giving rise to inter-segment revenue generated by 
ECT and inter-segment interest expense incurred by ECTF. At a consolidated level, all inter-segment 
loans are eliminated along with the related interest revenue and expense. Furthermore, all ELF 
borrowings advanced to shareholders, together with the related issue of ECT shares are eliminated as, 
pursuant to accounting standards, such loans, which are limited recourse borrowings in nature, are 
deemed to represent the issue of in-substance call options by ECT to shareholders, with any receipts 
from ECT borrowers that do not result in the release of shares accounted for as the receipt of option 
premium. Only when shares are released on receipt of loan repayments is an actual issue of share 
capital recognised.
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Note 4. Revenue
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Sales of product - 257,597

Note 5. Other income
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Net gain on derivatives not qualifying as hedges (refer note 13) - 47,995

Research and development tax incentive (i) 734,967 598,997

Government grants - 14,933

Gain on termination of lease 38,067 -

Other income 15,684 3,257

Gain on recovery of bad debts(ii) 49,500 - 

Other income 838,218 665,182

(i)	Research and development tax incentive

The Company has recognised a receivable related to the research and development tax incentive of 
$1,294,899 at 30 June 2023 (2022: $1,794,182) which relates to eligible expenditure. Refer note 8. 
An amount of $562,471 (2022: $1,212,333) of the incentive received or receivable has been offset 
against the cost of plant and equipment during the year. Refer note 10.

(ii)	Gain on recovery of bad debts

In 2022, the Company sold its interest in the Wood 247 business for cash and an exchange of shares. The 
purchaser owed the Company $132,000 which had been written off as a bad debt in the first half of 
the 2023 year. During the period, the Company was able to take back 4,500,000 ECT shares that it 
had delivered to the purchaser as part of the sale transaction. These shares were valued at $0.011 
each on 20 February 2023 when the shares were returned therefore delivering value of $49,500 
back to the Company and are held by ECT Finance Limited. Refer to note 17. The previous bad debt 
was therefore recovered to this extent and recognised as income for the year.

Note 6. Expenses
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

Buildings 25,402 -

Leasehold improvements 22,857 2,235

Plant and equipment 793,061 466,525

Office equipment 6,821 4,105

Buildings right-of-use assets 157,505 152,031 

Total depreciation 1,005,646 624,896 

Amortisation

Right of access to mine 50,850 50,850 

Total depreciation and amortisation 1,056,496 675,746 

Remeasurement of other financial liabilities

Remeasurement of deferred and contingent consideration for HydroMOR 
assets (436,552) 146,914

Remeasurement of COLDry earn-out provision 373,862 (246,725)

Total remeasurement of financial liabilities (62,690) (99,811)

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment and Wood247 business

Net loss incurred on disposal of Wood247 business - 198,351

Loss on sale and write off of other plant and equipment 	 - 35,326 

	 - 233,677 

Finance costs

Interest and finance charges paid/payable on lease liabilities 26,463 31,404

Interest and facility costs 69,769 61,784

Interest on convertible promissory notes 	 - 218,644 

Finance costs expensed 96,232 311,832 

Employee benefits expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 73,674 37,375

Other employee benefits 301,360 240,518 

Total employee benefits expense 375,034 277,893 
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Note 7. Income tax expense

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Income tax expense

Deferred tax assets attributable to temporary differences 113,812 702,055

Deferred tax assets attributable to carried forward tax losses (730,302) (692,562)

Total deferred tax assets not recognised 616,490 (9,493)

Aggregate income tax expense - - 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Loss before income tax expense (4,416,859) (5,178,833)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% (1,104,215) (1,294,708)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Research and development 237,194 881,390

Share-based payments 167,710 422,099

Amortisation and impairment 82,821 -

Unrealised foreign exchange movements - 713 

(616,490) 9,494

Current year tax losses not recognised 730,302 692,561

Current year temporary differences not recognised (113,812) (702,055)

Adjustment recognised for prior periods 70,109 -

Deferred tax movement not recognised (70,109) - 

Income tax expense 	 - - 

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Tax losses not recognised

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 30,702,247  27,781,039 

Potential tax benefit at 25% (2022: 25%) 7,675,562 6,945,260 

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial 
position. These tax losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, 
or failing that, the same business test is passed.

The corporate tax rate applicable to base rate entities is 25%. The Company qualifies as a base rate 
entity as it has a turno ver of less than $50 million and less than 80% of its assessable income is derived 
from base rate entity passive income.

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Deferred tax assets not recognised comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Employee benefits 9,572 1,849

Accrued expenses 16,497 3,190

Plant and equipment (1,274,736) (1,179,634)

Finance costs 16,380 28,913

Intangible assets 2,061,441 2,064,096

Provision for earn-out (COLDry) 409,722 316,257

HydroMOR deferred consideration (328,290) (219,152)

Right-of-use asset (net of lease liability) 6,785 15,665 

Total deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities not recognised 917,371 1,031,184

The above potential tax benefit, which excludes tax losses, for deductible temporary differences 
has not been recognised in the statement of financial position as the recovery of this benefit is 
uncertain.
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Note 8. Trade and other receivables
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current assets

Other receivables 291,397 189,536

Research and development tax incentive receivable 1,294,899 1,794,182 

1,586,296 1,983,718 

BAS receivable 79,105 176,722 

1,665,401 2,160,440

Allowance for expected credit losses

There were no allowances for expected credit losses on receivables recognised as at reporting 
date. Amounts of trade and other receivables written off as not recoverable during the year were 
$132,000 (2022: $nil). See note 33 for further details.

Note 9. Right-of-use assets

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Non-current assets

Land and buildings - right-of-use 798,888 945,502

Less: Accumulated depreciation (414,576) (460,831)

384,312 484,671

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below:

Consolidated
Land and buildings

(ROU)
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 636,702

Depreciation expense 	 (152,031)

Balance at 30 June 2022 484,671

Additions 202,272

Disposals (145,126)

Depreciation expense 	 (157,505)

Balance at 30 June 2023 	 384,312 

The consolidated entity leases land and buildings for its head office and pilot plant facility at South 
Yarra and Bacchus Marsh respectively. During the year, the existing head office lease was terminated, 
and a new lease was entered into at different premises in South Yarra. The new office lease is for 2 
years, with 2 additional optional terms of 2 years each.

For other AASB 16 lease-related disclosures, refer to:

•	 note 6 for details of interest on lease liabilities
•	 note 14 for details on lease liabilities
•	 note 19 for details on undiscounted lease commitments;
•	 consolidated statement of cash flows for repayment of lease liabilities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Note 10. Property, plant and equipment

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Non-current assets

Land and buildings - at cost 1,143,235 1,026,529

Less: Accumulated depreciation (25,402) 	 - 

1,117,833 1,026,529 

Leasehold improvements - at cost 86,608 61,593

Less: Accumulated depreciation (25,201) (2,235)

61,407 59,358 

Plant and equipment - at cost 8,599,506 7,947,274

Less: Accumulated depreciation (5,151,930) (4,392,889)

3,447,576 3,554,385 

Fixtures and fittings - at cost 4,467 12,102

Less: Accumulated depreciation (4,467) (12,102)

	 - 	 - 

Office equipment - at cost 30,324 28,489

Less: Accumulated depreciation (20,219) (13,383)

10,105 15,106 

4,636,921 4,655,378 
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Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Consolidated
Land and
buildings

$

Leasehold
improvements

$

Plant and
equipment

$

Office
equipment

$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 - - 2,549,982 1,621 2,551,603

Additions 1,026,529 61,593 2,903,520 19,482 4,011,124

Disposals (plant and equipment and other assets related to Wood247)
- -

(130,288)
-

(130,288)

R&D tax incentive offset - - (1,210,441) (1,892) (1,212,333)

Write off of assets - - (91,863) - (91,863)

Depreciation expense 	 - (2,235) (466,525) (4,105) (472,865)

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,026,529 59,358 3,554,385 15,106 4,655,378

Additions 116,706 24,906 1,478,518 1,835 1,621,965

Disposals - - (81,360) (15) (81,375)

R&D tax incentive offset - - (562,471) - (562,471)

Impairment of assets - - (148,435) - (148,435)

Depreciation expense (25,402) (22,857) (793,061) (6,821) (848,141)

Balance at 30 June 2023 1,117,833 61,407 3,447,576 10,105 4,636,921

Sale of Wood247 business

After the completion of the pilot period of the Wood247 business and after a strategic review of that business, the Company sold the business on the basis that it was determined to be inconsistent with the 
key strategic objectives of the Company with respect to net zero and hydrogen technologies. Refer to note 33(f) for further information.

Site Purchased for Proposed Hydrogen Refinery Project

On 22 February 2022, the Company settled the purchase of a site in Yallourn at a total cost of $1,026,529 that will be suitable for its proposed hydrogen refinery project. Refer to the ‘Review of Operations’ 
section in the directors’ report for further details.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Note 11. Intangibles

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Non-current assets

COLDry IP - at cost 9,600,000 9,600,000

Less: Accumulated amortisation (4,800,000) (4,800,000)

Less: Impairment (4,800,000) (4,800,000)

	 - 	 - 

Waste-to-energy IP - at cost 48,369 48,369

Less: Accumulated amortisation (48,369) (48,369)

	 - 	 - 

Right of access to mine 254,250 254,250

Less: Accumulated amortisation (101,700) (50,850)

152,550 203,400 

152,550 203,400 

Reconciliations of Intellectual property

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below:

Consolidated
Right of access - 

mining
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 254,250

Amortisation expense (50,850)

Balance at 30 June 2022 203,400

Amortisation expense (50,850)

Balance at 30 June 2023 152,550 

COLDry intellectual property (‘COLDry IP’)

The COLDry IP represents the patented technology related to COLDry acquired by the consolidated 
entity in 2009. It is the most advanced of all the Company’s technologies and while the asset has been 
fully impaired in order to comply with relevant accounting standards, the consolidated entity is of the 
view that this IP remains one of its most valuable assets. COLDry is currently in the early stages of 
commercialisation and was being manufactured and sold prior to the fire at the plant. COLDry is also 
the cornerstone of all other technologies that the consolidated entity is developing such as HydroMOR 
and COHgen.

The recognition and value of the COLDry IP, being an intangible asset, must be considered annually 
in accordance with the requirements of AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’. An impairment test must be 
conducted if there are indicators of impairment, in which case the entity shall estimate the recoverable 
amount of the asset. The recoverable amount shall be the higher of the fair value less cost of sale and 
value in use. Assessments performed under AASB 136 using a value-in-use model did not support the 
carrying value of the COLDry IP. The asset was fully impaired in the year ended 30 June 2019.

Assessments of the COLDry IP fair value less cost of sale and the value in use will be conducted in 
future accounting periods. Should these assessments warrant a reversal of the impairment loss 
recognised in the year ended 30 June 2019, a revaluation increase will be recognised in accordance 
with relevant accounting standards.

Right-of-access - mining

During the 2021 financial year, the Company entered into an agreement with EnergyAustralia to secure 
a supply of lignite. The consideration paid to EnergyAustralia was used to upgrade its plant to facilitate 
product supply to the Company. The agreement included the cost to repair and commission the outfeed 
delivery system at a cost of $450,000 of which $195,750 was claimed as part of the R&D tax incentive 
last financial year. The remaining balance of $254,250 is being amortised over 5 years.
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Note 12. Trade and other payables

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current liabilities

Trade payables 571,264 625,995

Other payables 121,246 56,445 

692,510 682,440 

Refer to note 19 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 13. Borrowings

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current liabilities

Invest Victoria R&D funding Loan 1,968,000 1,968,000

Refer to note 19 for further information on financial instruments.

Invest Victoria R&D funding loan

The funding loan relates to a facility agreement that provided for funding based on the value of the 
anticipated AusIndustry Tax Incentive program for the respective financial year and is secured by the 
research and development tax rebate provided to the Company under the research and development 
tax incentive program.

The loan of $1,968,000 was extended for a further 12 months during the year, with the loan to be 
possibly repaid from the FY23 R&D incentive refund. The Company has applied to Invest Victoria to 
repay the loan over an extended period. The interest rate for this loan is 4.265% and interest is payable 
monthly. The contractual maturity date is 31 October 2023.

Note 14. Lease liabilities
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current liabilities

Lease liability 138,097 157,628 

Non-current liabilities

Lease liability 273,354 389,701 

411,451 547,329

Refer to note 19 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 15. Provisions

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current liabilities

Annual leave 19,877  5,531

Non-current liabilities

Long service leave 18,412  1,864

38,289 7,395
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Note 16. Other financial liabilities

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Current liabilities

Deferred and contingent consideration - HydroMOR - 23,012 

Non-current liabilities

Earn-out provision - COLDry 1,638,889 1,265,027

Deferred and contingent consideration - HydroMOR - 413,540 

1,638,889 1,678,567 

1,638,889 1,701,579 

Earn-out provision - COLDry

The earn-out provision represents deferred consideration payable related to the acquisition of the 
COLDry intellectual property from the Maddingley Group. The consideration payable is calculated 
based on $0.50 per projected processed tonne of COLDry pellets and is discounted at a rate of 15% 
(2022: 22%). The total consideration payable is $3,000,000 plus applicable interest at the Reserve Bank 
of Australia cash rate.

Deferred and consideration - HydroMOR (previously Matmor)

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of the HydroMOR asset, deferred and contingent 
consideration of $3.5 million of cash was incurred. The timing of paying consideration up to the cash 
amount of $3.5 million to Matmor Steel is dependent upon if, and when, issued options of the Company 
are exercised as well as the various milestones being met. The consideration will become payable 
through a combination of any of the following triggers, and at the amounts attributed to each trigger, 
until the liability has been satisfied:

(a)	 50% of proceeds received by the Company from the exercise of ECT Options up to a cash amount 
of $1 million

(b)	 a minimum of 15% of proceeds received by the Company from the exercise of ECT Options 
thereafter

(c)	 $500,000 on signing a binding contract for construction of the HydroMOR Pilot Plant

(d)	 $500,000 on the HydroMOR Pilot Plant operations achieving an agreed steady state as well as 

conversion targets

(e)	 $1 million on the signing of a binding contract for the construction of a commercial scale 
HydroMOR plant

(f)	 the first collection of revenue in any form from the commercialisation of HydroMOR technology

At the reporting date, a total of $2,000,215 (2022: $2,000,215) has been repaid under triggers (a) and 
(b) which were satisfied in prior years. In measuring the current value of the liability, management has 
estimated the remaining milestones will not likely be achieved.

The Company has now determined that it will focus all near-term project efforts on the COLDry 
technologies and the related subprojects that stem from that intellectual property. In this regard, 
HydroMOR is now a lower priority for the Company. As a result of the revision of valuation 
assumptions, the value of the obligation to HydroMOR has become insubstantial.

Earn-out 
creditor
COLDry

$

Deferred 
consideration

HydroMOR
$

Total
$

Opening balance as at 1 July 2022 1,265,027 436,552 1,701,579

Remeasurement to fair value (charge to profit or 
loss)

373,862 (436,552) (62,690)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2023 1,638,88 - 1,638,889 
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Note 17. Issued capital

Consolidated

2023
Shares

2022
Shares

2023
$

2022
$

Ordinary shares - fully paid 1,595,597,091 88,961,632 88,943,874

Treasury shares (refer note 5) 4,500,000 - - -

ELF shares 874,025,425 120,654,587 	 - 	 - 

2,476,610,569 1,716,251,678 88,961,632 88,943,874

Ordinary share capital

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in any dividends declared and any proceeds 
attributable to shareholders should the Company be wound up in proportions that consider both the 
number of shares held and the extent to which those shares are paid up.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Details Date Shares Issued Issue price $

Balance 1 July 2021 10,000,929,918 81,091,892

Consolidation of share capital 1 July 2021 (9,000,836,396) $0.000 -

Share-based payments 1 July 2021 1,000,000 $0.010 10,000

Share-based payments 30 August 2021 9,000,000 $0.010 90,000

Equity component of convertible promissory notes 7 September 2021 - $0.000 384,136

Share-based payments 4 October 2021 18,000,000 $0.010 180,000

Share-based payments 14 October 2021 1,877,415 $0.010 18,774

Exercise of options 26 November 2021 2,000 $0.030 60

Exercise of options 10 December 2021 26,800 $0.030 805

Conversion of convertible promissory notes 21 December 2021 290,152,877 $0.010 1,395,339

Conversion of convertible promissory notes 21 January 2022 8,646,713 $0.006 51,130

Share-based payment 31 January 2022 - $0.010 58,333

Release of ELF shares 15 February 2022 65,000,000 $0.010 650,000

Part settlement of acquisition of Yallourn property 22 February 2022 25,000,000 $0.019 475,000

Conversion of convertible promissory notes 4 March 2022 5,631,097 $0.006 32,705

Wood247 sale 8 April 2022 4,500,000 $0.035 157,500

Share placement 3 May 2022 166,666,667 $0.030 5,000,000

Equity raising costs 	 - $0.000 (651,800)

Balance 30 June 2022 1,595,597,091 88,943,874

Share-based payments 11 April 2023 2,819,987 $0.010 26,895

Share-based payment 19 April 2023 333,333 $0.009 3,000

Share forfeiture 20 April 2023 (4,500,000) $0.011 (49,500)

Share-based payments 05 May 2023 1,178,513 $0.011 12,964

Share-based payment 22 May 2023 528,535 $0.010 5,250

Share-based payments 14 June 2023 2,127,685 $0.009 19,149 

Balance 30 June 2023 1,598,085,144 88,961,632 
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Share placements

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company raised 
$5,000,000 through a placement of 166,666,667 fully 
paid ordinary shares to sophisticated and professional 
investors at an issue price of $0.03 per share. For every 
three shares issued under the Pla cement, the Company 
issued two (2) free attaching ECTOE options exercisable at 
$0.03 and expiring 17 February 2023. Funds were raised 
for the following: $3,500,000 to fund ECT obligations 
under a joint venture agreement being the installation 
of the pyrolysis kiln and site preparation for the turbine, 
formic acid process and Hydrogen Hub; $1,200,000 for 
general working capital; and $300,000 in capital raising 
costs.

Convertible promissory notes

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company issued 
and allotted 304,430,686 fully paid ordinary shares and 
300,000,000 ECTOE options upon the conversion of 
promissory notes as approved by shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM in December 2021.

Shares and options in escrow

On 3 February 2023, 26,000,000 ECTOE options were 
released from escrow. These options would have lapsed 
on 17 February 2023. Releasing the options from 
escrow enabled the holder, LJ & K Thomson Pty Ltd, to 
participate in the ELF which was open to opt ion holders 
holding at least 333,334 options.

ELF share capital

The Company’s subsidiary, ECT Finance Ltd, has 
entered into limited recourse loans with option-holders 
(Participants) allowing them to obtain finance to exercise 
share options issued by the Company. Shares in ECT were 
issued on exercise of options in accordance with the Loan 
and Security Agreement (the Agreement) of the ELF.

All shares issued pursuant to the ELF and which are 
financed by limited recourse loans are considered, for 
accounting purposes, to be options issued. As a result, 
neither the value of the loans receivable, nor the value of 
shares issued, are recognised in the financial statements. 
Where the Company receives funds from Participants 
in the form of principal or interest, such amounts are 
treated as the receipt of option premium and recognised 
in the option reserve until the loan is settled (refer to 
note 18). Loans expire within 2-3 years from issue and 
interest is charged at commercial rates of interest.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the ELF, each 
Participant has a legal and beneficial interest in the 
ELF shares issued to them except that any dealings 
with those ELF shares by the Participant is restricted in 
accordance with the Agreement. ELF shares rank equally 
with all existing ordinary shares of the Company from the 
date of issue in respect of all rights issues, bonus issues, 
dividends and other distributions to, or entitlements of, 
ordinary shareholders. On termination of the loan facility, 
the Participant may elect to settle the loan or default on 
the loan and the Company’s subsidiary could enforce 
the return of the ELF shares subject to requirements of 
the Corporations Act and as outlined in the Agreement 
signed by each borrower.

The face value of limited recourse loans that had been 
issued at the reporting date was $24,879,854 (2022: 
$1,556,546) and interest and management fees accrued 
on such loans was $228,463 (2022: $321,015).

As at reporting date, there are 874,025,425 (2022: 
120,654,587) shares held as security against these loans 
(ELF Shares) and therefore there are ELF Options of the 
same amount deemed to be on issue.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
ELF share capital movements (i.e., number of shares) are as follows:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Opening balance of ELF shares on issue 120,654,587 1,775,320,034

Consolidation of share capital - (1,597,788,032)

Shares released during year (i) - (90,000,000)

Share-based payments (6,988,053) (1,877,415)

ELF shares issued during year (ii),(iii) 760,358,891 35,000,000 

Closing balance of ELF shares on issue 874,025,425 120,654,587 

(i)	 Shares were released on receipt of $650,000 and payment of $250,000 as part settlement of the 
property purchased at Yallourn both of which occurred in February 2022.

(ii)	 Following shareholder approval at the Company’s AGM in November 2022, ECTF announced 
a new ELF for the holders of ECTOE options. All option holders holding at least 333,334 ECTOE 
options were eligible to participate in the ELF. Applications for 50 new ELFs were received which 
resulted in 760,358 891 ECTOE options being converted to the same number of ordinary shares. 
These shares are held as security for the ELFs, are escrowed and therefore cannot be traded 
by ELF holders until the ELF is repaid. The total initial value of the ELFs was $22,810,767. The 
term of the ELFs is 3 years, during which time the nominees may elect to pay out their ELF at a 
deemed price of $0.03 per share plus any interest and fees, subject to the terms of the ELF, to 
satisfy the loan and have the holding lock lifted. If the nominees do not pay out their ELFs by the 
due date, the loan defaults but is settled by ECTF taking control of the security (the ECT shares). 
One of the above ELFs has since been forfeited with the 1,598,894 shares that were securing this 
ELF subsequently used to pay creditors leaving 758,759,997 shares as security for the remaining 
49 ELFs.

(iii)	 In 2022, the Company established ELFs with six nominees of Kaai Capital which was appointed as 
the Lead Manager for the Company’s share placement that occurred during April and May 2021. 
The Company issued 35,000,000 (post-share consolidation) shares to Kaai’s nominees. The term 
of the ELFs is 3 years, during which time the nominees may elect to pay out their ELF at a deemed 
price of $0.02 per share plus any interest and fees, subject to the terms of the ELF, to satisfy the loan 
and have the holding lock lifted. If the nominees do not pay out their ELFs by the due date, the loan 
defaults but is settled by ECTF taking control of the security (the ECT shares).

The following ELF shares were on issue at reporting date:

ELF issue details Effective 
exercise price

No. of shares 
2023

No. of shares 
2022

Issue date 10 May 2020, expiry date 10 May 
2024

$0.01 15,265,428 20,654,587

Issue date 15 January 2021, expiry date 15 
January 2024

$0.01 65,000,000 65,000,000

Issue date 15 September 2021, expiry date 15 
September 2024

$0.02 35,000,000 35,000,000

Issue date 17 February 2023, expiry date 16 
February 2026

$0.03 758,759,997 - 

874,025,425 120,654,587 

Options on issue (ASX: ECTOE)

ECTOE options on issue had an exercise price of $0.03 and expired on 17 February 2023. Details of 
ECTOE options on issue during the year are as follows:

Details Date of issue No. of options

Balance of ECTOE options on issue as 
at 1 July 2022 961,303,046

Conversion of ECTOE options via ELF 
to ordinary shares 17 February 2023 (760,358,891)

Expired ECTOE options
17 February 2023 (200,944,155)

- 
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Options on issue (Unlisted director incentive options)

Unlisted director incentive options were issued during 2022 as part of an incentive scheme and which 
formed part of their remuneration.

Issue date Number issued Exercise price Expiry date Terms Balance on issue at 
year end

22 Dec 2021 20,000,000 $0.025 15 Oct 2024 note (i) 20,000,000

22 Dec 2021 20,000,000 $0.025 15 Oct 2024 note (ii) 20,000,000

22 Dec 2021 20,000,000 $0.025 15 Oct 2024 note (iii) 20,000,000

22 Dec 2021 20,000,000 $0.025 15 Oct 2025 note (iv) 20,000,000

24 Jun 2022 10,000,000 $0.05 27 Mar 2025 note (v) 10,000,000

24 Jun 2022 10,000,000 $0.05 27 Mar 2025 note (vi) 10,000,000

24 Jun 2022 10,000,000 $0.05 27 Mar 2025 note (vii) 10,000,000

24 Jun 2022 10,000,000 $0.05 27 Mar 2025 note (viii) 10,000,000 

120,000,000 

(i)	 Exercise is subject to vesting (12 months from issue date)

(ii)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 15 October 2021 if the 20 - day VWAP is $0.025 or higher at any time prior to expiry

(iii)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 15 October 2021 if the 20- day VWAP is $0.035 or higher at any time prior to expiry

(iv)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 15 October 2021 if the 20 -day VWAP is $0.05 or higher at any time prior to expiry

(v)	 Exercise is subject to vesting (12 months from issue date)

(vi)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.06 or higher at any time prior to expiry

(vii)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.08 or higher at any time prior to expiry

(viii)	 Exercise is subject to vesting which may occur no earlier than 12 months from the agreement date 
of 27 March 2022 if the 20-day VWAP is $0.10 or higher at any time prior to expiry

Share buy-back

There is no current on-market share buy-back.

Capital risk management

The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to 
reduce debt. The consolidated entity monitors capital by reference to cash flow forecasts in relation 
the operating revenue and expenditure. The consolidated entity also monitors its capital expenditure 
requirements to identify any additional capital required.

The consolidated entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or 
company was seen as value adding relative to the current parent entity’s share price at the time of the 
investment. The consolidated entity is not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as 
it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies.

The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is 
given priority in all capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the 
financing arrangements during the financial year.

The capital risk management strategy remains unchanged from 2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Note 18. Reserves

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Share-based payments reserve 121,681 1,495,775

Options reserve 2,152,000 1,681,091 

2,273,681 3,176,866 

Options reserve
The balance of the options reserve recognises the value of consideration received for options 
issued that are exercisable at reporting date, including the value of options issued on settlement of 
convertible promissory notes. Such options may include those that have been issued as a share-based 
payment and which have vested in the option holder as at reporting date (refer to note 17 for further 
details). Premium received represents the receipt of ELF interest for the period. Movements in the 
reserve are provided below.

Share-based payments reserve
The balance of the reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and 
directors as part of their remuneration which have not fully vested in the recipient as at reporting date 
or otherwise represent an obligation incurred to issue ordinary shares. Movements in the reserve are 
provided in the table below.

Movements in reserves
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Consolidated Options 
reserve

$

Share-based
payments 

reserve
$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 118,285 - 118,285

Issue of options on settlement of convertible 
promissory notes 791,340 - 791,340

Share-based payments (note 33) 771,466 1,495,775 2,267,241 

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,681,091 1,495,775 3,176,866

Receipt of premium on ELF 549 - 549

Expiry of ECTOE options (1,681,640) - (1,681,640)

Share-based payments (note 33) - 777,906 777,906

Transfer vested options to options reserve 2,152,000 (2,152,000) - 

Balance at 30 June 2023 2,152,000 121,681 2,273,681 
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Note 19. Financial instruments

Financial risk management objectives

The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘Finance’) under policies approved by 
the Board. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated 
entity and appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and, when 
considered necessary, hedges financial risks within the consolidated entity’s operating units. Finance 
reports to the Board on a regular basis.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The majority of the consolidated entity’s operations are within Australia. A subsidiary located in India 
does not currently expose the consolidated entity to any significant foreign exchange risk.

Price risk

The consolidated entity is not exposed to any significant price risk.

Interest rate risk
The consolidated entity has minimal exposure to interest rate risk.

Fluctuations in interest rates will not have any material risk exposure to the cash held in bank deposits 
at variable rates.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the consolidated entity. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits 
with banks and financial institutions, as well as exposures to customers, including outstanding 

receivables. For banks and financial institutions, only major Australian banking institutions are used. 
For customers, individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits 
set by the Board. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial 
assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the 
statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The consolidated entity does not 
currently have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors.

The consolidated entity has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit 
losses to trade receivables through the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss 
provisioning. These provisions are considered representative across all customers of the consolidated 
entity based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-looking information 
that is available.

Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators of this include the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement 
activity and a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 1 year.

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets 
(mainly cash and cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The consolidated entity aims at maintaining flexibility 
in funding by keeping committed funding options available to meet the consolidated entity’s needs.

Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
instrument liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The 
tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 
therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT

Consolidated - 2023 Interest rate
%

1 year or less
$

Between 1
and 2 years

$

Between 2
and 5 years

$

Over 5 years
$

Remaining contractual
maturities

$

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 571,264 - - - 571,264

Other payables - 121,246 - - - 121,246

Interest-bearing - variable

Earn-out provision (COLDry) 4.100% - - 52,093 1,584,959 1,637,052

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Lease liability 7.900% 161,116 141,430 129,000 43,000 474,546

R&D funding loan 4.265% 1,995,978 	 - 	 - 	 - 1,995,978 

Total non-derivatives 2,849,604 141,430 181,093 1,627,959 4,800,086
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Note 19. Financial instruments (cont.)

Consolidated - 2022 Interest rate
%

1 year or less
$

Between 1
and 2 years

$

Between 2
and 5 years

$

Over 5 years
$

Remaining contractual
maturities

$

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 625,995 - - - 625,995

Other payables - 56,445 - - - 56,445

Deferred consideration (HydroMOR) - - 23,012 367,963 45,577 436,552

Interest-bearing - variable

Earn-out provision (COLDry) 0.850% - - 36,812 1,228,214 1,265,026

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Lease liability 5.000% 181,420 183,636 230,393 - 595,449

R&D funding loan 1.015% - 2,056,863 	 - 	 - 2,056,863 

Total non-derivatives 863,860 2,263,511 635,168 1,273,791 5,036,330

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above.

Cash flows related to settlement of the COLDry earn-out provision are based on timing of forecast production output upon which payment is calculated. Future cash flows have been discounted at 11% (2022: 
15%) in determining the recognised carrying value within the financial statements.

The calculation of the HydroMOR deferred consideration included in the above table in 2022 was dependent upon commercial outcomes, the actual timing of which could not be determined. The timing of 
liability payments provided in the table above were consistent with the assumptions made in calculation of the liability. Future cash flows were discounted at 19% in determining the recognised carrying value 
within the financial statements. This liability has now been remeasured to a value of $nil as at 30 June 2023. Refer to note 16 for further details.
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Note 20. Fair value measurement

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed 
at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
entire fair value measurement, being:

•	 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date

•	 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 

•	 Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

Consolidated - 2023 Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Liabilities

Deferred consideration - HydroMOR - - -

Earn-out provision - COLDry IP - -  1,638,889 

Total liabilities - - 1,638,889 

Consolidated - 2022 Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Liabilities

Deferred consideration - HydroMOR - - 436,552

Earn-out provision - COLDry IP - -  1,265,026 

Total liabilities -	 - 1,701,578 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the forecast cash flows required to 

discharge the liability at the current market interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities. 
Movements in the fair value of the financial liabilities are disclosed in their respective notes.

Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 3

The above financial liabilities have been valued using a discounted cash flow model and/or option 
pricing models. Refer to note 16 and below for further details.

Level 3 assets and liabilities

Movements in level 3 assets and liabilities during the current and previous financial year are set out 
below:

Consolidated

Derivative 
liability - 

Convertible 
promissory

notes
$

Deferred 
consideration 

HydroMOR
$

Earn-out 
provision 
COLDry IP

$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 - 289,638 1,511,752 1,801,390

Initial recognition 300,000 - - 300,000

Remeasurement to fair value (47,995) - - (47,995)

Settlement on conversion of 
promissory notes

(252,005) - - (252,005)

Losses recognised in profit or loss - 146,914 (246,725) (99,811)

Balance at 30 June 2022 - 436,552 1,265,027 1,701,579

Remeasurement to fair value - (436,552) 373,862 (62,690)

Balance at 30 June 2023 -	 - 1,638,889 1,638,889 
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The unobservable inputs and sensitivities of level 3 liabilities are as follows:

Description Unobservable inputs Potential range Sensitivity

COLDry earn-out 
provision

Discount rate 10% - 20% (15% used)

(2022: 22% used)

A change in this rate of 5% would have an effect of:

+5%: decreasing the carrying value of the liability by $331,689 (and decreasing the loss); and -5%: increasing the carrying value of the 
liability by $475,417 (and increasing the loss).

Timing of production to 
discharge liability

July 2022 onwards 
(2022:

July 2022 onwards)

The rate of payment of the earn-out liability is linked to the expected timing of plant production.

Obligations are currently forecast to commence next year from small production, escalating in forward years through commercial 
scale up. A change in timing of the commercial scale commencement of +1 year from that currently forecast would reduce the loss 
and liability by $247,776.

HydroMOR 
deferred 
consideration

Discount rate 19% (2022: 19% used) A change in the discount rate to a reasonably possible alternative rate in the valuation model would not have a significant change on 
fair value measurement.

Timing of significant 
trigger events

Beyond 2027 There is currently significant uncertainty with regard to the timing of recommencing the development of the HydroMOR technology. A 
change in timing to a reasonably possible alternative date in the valuation model would not have a significant change on fair value 
measurement.

Note 21. Key management personnel disclosures

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity is set out below:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Short-term benefits 968,783 1,010,050

Post-employment benefits 14,319 10,795

Share-based payments 797,928 1,575,370 

1,781,030 2,596,215

Included in the share-based payment expense of $845,164 for this financial year was $797,928 which related to KMP for the settlement of consulting invoices, director fees and the issue of unlisted options. Refer 
to note 25, note 33 and the directors’ report for further details.
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Note 22. Remuneration of auditors
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by BDO Audit Pty 
Ltd, the auditor of the Company:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Audit services - BDO Audit Pty Ltd

Audit or review of the financial statements 133,852 109,441

Note 23. Contingent liabilities
The Company has guaranteed the debts of its wholly owned subsidiaries (refer note 28) as at 30 June 
2023. There were no other contingent liabilities of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2023 or 30 
June 2022 other than as disclosed in note 16.

Note 24. Commitments

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Capital commitments

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Property, plant and equipment 33,998 -

Patent commitments *

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

One to five years 29,516 40,496

More than five years 11,908  24,299

41,424 64,795

* Patent commitments represent maintenance payments pursuant to the registered patents of both 
COLDry and HydroMOR.

Royalty commitments

The Company has entered into agreements that require it to pay certain royalties on production 
of its COLDry and HydroMOR technologies. These royalties arise pursuant to the:

•	 COLDry Equity Sale Deed (2009); and

•	 Matmor Royalty Payment Deed (2014).

The Company is committed to make certain royalty payments in the event that commercial value is 
derived from the application of the technologies as follows:

•	 from production utilising the COLDry technology of COLDry pellets, a royalty rate of $0.50 per 
tonne, which is increased by CPI each anniversary of the agreement. For 2023, this now stands at 
$0.5344 per tonne (2022: $0.5182). This royalty is payable for a period of twenty years following 
the commencement of payments; and

•	 from revenue achieved through commercialisation and deployment of HydroMOR technology, less 
valid deductions as required under any technology licence, the Company will pay 3% in perpetuity.

Coal supply agreement with EnergyAustralia

On 28 May 2021, the Company signed a coal supply agreement with EnergyAustralia for the supply 
of lignite from EnergyAustralia’a Yallourn mine (refer ASX announcement dated 3 June 2021). The 
agreement requires that EnergyAustralia supply at least 50,000 tonnes (or other agreed amounts) 
to the Company for the next 5 years to support the Company’s COLDry activities. There is no minimum 
purchase commitment incurred by the Company.
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Note 25. Related party transactions

Parent entity

Environmental Clean Technologies Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 27.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 21 and the remuneration report 
included in the directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Payment for other expenses:

Payment of forklift rent to key management personnel (i) 7,500 9,000

Notes:
(i)	 The Company rented a forklift from Glenn Fozard on a monthly basis for $750 (plus GST) 

per month. This arrangement replaced a prior rental agreement for a less suitable and older 
forklift with another supplier. The arrangement ceased in April 2023.

Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from, or trade payables to, related parties at reporting date.

Director and KMP fees payable

The following fees payables (inclusive of GST) were owing to directors and KMP at reporting date:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Jason Marinko (director’s fees) 7,955 -

Tim Wise (director’s fees) 7,955 -

James Blackburn (director’s fees) 7,955 -

Glenn Fozard (consulting fees) 77,917 -

Adam Giles (consulting fees) 8,000 -

Ashley Moore (consulting fees) 20,161 -

Martin Hill (consulting fees) 3,740 	 - 

133,683 -

During the year, directors and KMP agreed to take a portion of their remuneration in shares, subject 
shareholder approval. Of the payables shown above, the amounts to be taken in shares are as follows: 
Marinko $7,955, Wise $7,955, Blackburn $7,955, Fozard $65,000, Giles $nil, Moore $5,000, Hill $3,500. 
Refer to note 33.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date other than 
the following ELF loans:

ELF Loans

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to ELF loans to key management 
personnel made on 17 February 2023 on the same terms and conditions as other ELF borrowers. 
Balances include interest accrued to 30 June 2023. Under the accounting policy adopted for ELF loans, 
these remain unrecognised in the financial statements.

2023
$

2022
$

Jason Marinko (i) 157,159 -

Tim Wise (ii) 78,579 -

Glenn Fozard (iii) 192,446 -

Ashley Moore (iv) 174,761 -

Martin Hill (v) 43,197 -

Adam Giles (vi) 28,597 - 

674,739 -

Notes
(i)	 Loan is in the name of Tessobel Pty Ltd
(ii)	 Loan is in the name of Finind Pty Ltd
(iii)	 Loans are in the name of Glenn Fozard or Anne Fozard
(iv)	 Loans are in the name of A & K Moore Nominees Pty Ltd and Perl M&C Pty Ltd
(v)	 Loan is in the name of Caracob Pty Ltd
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Note 26. Parent entity information
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Parent

2023
$

2022
$

Loss after income tax (4,395,767) (5,153,782)

Total comprehensive loss (4,395,767) (5,153,782)

Statement of financial position

Parent

2023
$

2022
$

Total current assets 4,587,540 6,301,140 

Total assets 9,761,323 11,644,225 

Total current liabilities 2,818,484 2,757,389 

Total liabilities 4,749,139 4,827,521 

Equity

Issued capital 88,961,632 87,853,670

Share-based payments reserve 121,682 1,495,775

Options reserve 2,152,000 1,485,784

Accumulated losses (86,223,130)  (84,018,525)

Total equity 5,012,184 6,816,704 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its 
subsidiaries

The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022. 
As at 30 June 2023, the Company had entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries. The Deed requires that both the parent and subsidiaries guarantee the debts of each other. 
Refer to note 28.

Capital and other commitments

The parent entity has operating lease, patent, equipment finance and royalty commitments payable (not 
recognised as liabilities). Refer to note 24 for details.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as 
disclosed in note 1, except for the following:

•	 Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

•	 Dividends received from subsidiaries and income from associates are recognised as other income 
by the parent entity and its receipt may be an indicator of an impairment of the investment.

•	 ELF loans receivable are recognised as an asset in the parent entity. There are no ELF loans receivable 
recognised on consolidation.
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Note 27. Interests in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1:

Ownership interest

Name Principal place of business /
Country of incorporation

2023
%

2022
%

Asia Pacific Coal and Steel 
Pty Ltd

Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Enermode Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

ECT Coldry Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

A.C.N. 109 941 175 Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Environmental Clean 
Technologies Development 
and Services India Private 
Ltd

India 100.00% 100.00%

ECT Finance Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

ECT Waste-to-Energy Pty 
Ltd

Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Note 28. Deed of cross guarantee
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the 
debts of the others:

•	 Environmental Clean Technologies Ltd (Parent entity)

•	 ECT Finance Ltd

•	 Asia Pacific Coal and Steel Pty Ltd

•	 ECT Coldry Pty Ltd

•	 A.C.N. 109 941 175 Pty Ltd

•	 ECT Waste-to-Energy Pty Ltd

•	 Enermode Pty Ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities are relieved from any requirements to prepare 
financial statements and a directors’ report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Corporations Instrument, and 
as there are no other parties to the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by Environmental Clean 
Technologies Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position 
are substantially the same as the consolidated entity and therefore have not been separately disclosed.

79

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Environmental Clean Technologies Limited | Annual Report 2023 

Note 29. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to 
net cash used in operating activities

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Loss after income tax expense for the year (4,416,859) (5,178,833)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,056,496 675,746

Net loss incurred on disposal of plant and equipment and sale 
of Wood247 business

51,110 233,677

Gain on lease termination (38,067) -

Impairment of assets 280,435 -

Recovery of bad debts (49,500) -

Share-based payments 845,164 1,770,548

Revaluation of financial liabilities (62,690) (99,811)

Finance costs - non-cash - 218,644

Gain on revaluation of financial derivatives - (47,995)

Research and development incentives deferred - 1,212,333

Other 126 -

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in trade and other receivables 827,892 206,006

Increase in inventories - (78,112)

Increase in prepayments (8,070) -

Decrease in trade and other payables (112,480) (1,262,870)

Increase in employee benefits 	 30,894 	 799 

Net cash used in operating activities (1,595,549) (2,349,868)

Note 30. Non-cash investing and financing activities
Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Shares and options issued on conversion of promissory notes - 2,654,649

Shares and options issued - capital raising costs - 853,800

Shares issued - acquisition of land and buildings - 475,000

Acquisition of plant and equipment - payables 220,058 361,436

Acquisition of right-of-use assets 202,272 -

Disposal of plant and equipment - receivables (Wood247) 	 - (122,975)

422,330 4,221,910

Note 31. Changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities

Consolidated

R&D 
Funding

loans
$

Lease
liabilities

$

Equipment
finance

$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2021 1,259,039 695,195 26,519 1,980,753

Loans received 1,968,000 - - 1,968,000

Loans repaid (1,259,039) - - (1,259,039)

Interest accrued - 31,404 4,401 35,805

Lease repayments 	 - (179,270) (30,920) (210,190)

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,968,000 547,329 - 2,515,329

Interest accrued - 26,464 - 26,464

Lease repayments - (181,421) - (181,421)

Derecognition of lease liability on termination - (183,193) - (183,193)

Recognition of lease liability on new premises 	 - 202,272 	 - 202,272 

Balance at 30 June 2023 1,968,000 411,451	 - 2,379,451 
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
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Note 32. Earnings per share

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Environmental 
Clean Technologies Limited

(4,416,859) (5,178,833)

Cents Cents

Basic loss per share (0.277) (0.418)

Diluted loss per share (0.277) (0.418)

At 30 June 2023, there were 874,025,425 shares held as security which are subject to the repayment 
of ELF loans. For accounting purposes, these ELF loans and the related shares issued are treated as 
an in-substance issue of options. The ELF shares issued are therefore not included in the Basic EPS 
calculation. There were also 120,000,000 unlisted options on issue at reporting date. All options were 
considered anti-dilutive and excluded from the calculations above.

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic loss per share

 1,595,736,136  1,237,572,517 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
diluted loss per share

1,595,736,136 1,237,572,517 

All options on issue are out-of-the-money at reporting date and therefore considered anti-dilutive for 
the purposes of the diluted EPS calculation and therefore not included.

Note 33. Share-based payments
Share-based payments made by the consolidated entity are described below. Such share-based 
payment arrangements were settled, or will be settled subject to shareholder approval, through 
delivery or issue of ECT shares and unlisted incentive options. Such transactions impacted the financial 
statements in the following manner:

Impact on financial statements of share-based payments 2023
$

2022
$

Corporate costs expense 797,928 1,925,494

Sales and marketing expense 47,236 3,292 

Cost for year 845,164 1,928,786 

Promissory notes cost - 516,000

Property, plant and equipment capitalised 	 - 475,000 

(Decrease)/Increase in net assets 	 - 991,000 

Reflected in equity as

Share-based payments reserve (777,906) (1,495,778)

Options reserve - (771,466)

Share capital (issued) (67,258) (989,607)

Cost of share capital raised 	 - 337,065 

(845,164) (2,919,786)
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Note 33. Share-based payments (cont.)
A summary of the components of the share-based payments expense is as follows:

Consolidated

2023
$

2022
$

Corporate and sales and marketing expenses

Issue of ECT shares to key management personnel for services (see 
note (a))

127,090 77,106

Issue of ECTOE options for KMP consulting fees (see note (b)) - 2,489

Issue of unlisted director incentive options (see note (c)) 670,838 1,495,775

Transfer of shares and options for the acquisition of goods and the 
provision of services (see note (e))

47,236 195,915

Sale of Wood247 (see note (f)) 	 - 157,500 

845,164 1,928,785 

Promissory notes costs

Issue of ECT shares and ECTOE options for cost of capital raisings (see 
note (d))

	 - 516,000 

Property, plant and equipment capitalised

Issue of ECT shares for partial acquisition of Yallourn property (see 
note (e))

	 - 475,000 

845,164 2,919,785 

Further details in relation to share-based payments transactions are as follows:

(a)	 ECT shares issued and issuable to key management personnel for services

Shares were issued to KMP during the financial year in part settlement of invoices for consulting services 
and part settlement of director fees. All shares were transferred from an established ELF. The price 
used to determine the number of shares to be issued was the VWAP for the calendar month in which 
the services were provided.

In addition, at reporting date directors’ fees amounting to $88,865 are owing to the non-executive 
directors and consulting fees of $8,500 are owing to KMP at reporting date which will be settled in shares 
post balance date (subject to shareholder approval for amounts owing to directors).

In the prior financial year and as approved at the Company’s 2020 AGM held on 15 January 2021, shares 
in the Company were issued to directors in lieu of $25,000 of directors’ fees that would have been 
paid in cash. The shares were issued in February 2021 but held in escrow and released to directors 
periodically in arrears. The grant date fair value of the shares issued was $0.001 each or $100,000 
in aggregate which was expensed over the vesting period of 1 year. After consideration of the share 
consolidation, each director was entitled to 2,500,000 shares at an issue price of $0.01.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED
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The total corporate expense for the year relating to such shares was $127,090 (2022: $77,106). Details 
of shares issued are as follows:

2023
Number of

shares issued 
& issuable

2023
Fair value

$

2022
Number of 

shares issued

2022
Fair value

$

Directors

Glenn Fozard 7,196,970 65,000 1,458,334 14,583

Ashley Moore - - 1,458,334 14,583

James Blackburn 867,097 7,955 1,458,334 14,583

Neil O’Keefe - - 1,458,334 14,583

Jason Marinko 867,097 7,955 - -

Tim Wise 867,097 7,955 - -

KMP

Ashley Moore 2,235,001 20,000 - -

Adam Giles 1,575,611 14,725 - -

Martin Hill 437,500 3,500 1,877,417 18,774 

Total (i) 14,046,373 127,090	 7,710,753 77,106 

Note
(i)	 Of the 14,046,373 (2022: 7,710,753) shares issued or issuable shown above:

•	 4,248,112 (2022: 1,877,417) represented transfers from an established ELF facility and did not 
require shareholder approval;

•	 no shares (2022: 5,833,336) were issued by the Company; and
•	 9,798,261 shares are issuable subject to shareholder approval. The shares issuable are as follows:
•	 Fozard 7,196,970 ECT shares (total value $65,000);
•	 Each of Blackburn, Marinko and Wise 867,097 ECT shares (total value per KMP $7,955);
•	 Moore 625,000 ECT shares (total value $5,000);

•	 Hill 437,500 ECT shares (total value $3,500).

(b)	 Issue of ECTOE options for KMP consulting fees

No options were issued or transferred to KMP during the current financial year. All ECTOE options 
expired during the year.

In the prior financial year the following options were transferred to KMP as part settlement of invoices 
for consulting services (corporate expenses). These options were transferred from an ELF held in the 
name of a third party and with their consent. The terms and conditions of these options are as follows:

2022

Name Issue date Number of
options issued Fair value

Total value
$

Glenn Fozard 13 October 2021 20,445 $0.011 226

Martin Hill 13 October 2021 70,555 $0.011 762

Martin Hill 13 October 2021 	 750,967 $0.002 	 1,501 

	 841,967 	 2,489 

	

The fair value of options issued was based on their observable listed market price at their grant date. 
The grant date of 750,967 options issued to Martin Hill was 13 October 2021, whereas the grant date 
for the remaining options in the above table was during the year ended 30 June 2021. These amounts 
were recognised as a corporate expense with an increase in the options reserve.
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(c)	 Issue of unlisted director incentive options

The following director incentive options were issued to directors as part of an incentive scheme and formed part of their remuneration (corporate expenses) for the year.

Name Grant date Option Type(i) Number of options 
issued Fair value per option Expiry Date Exercise price Total FY23 

remuneration
Total FY22 

remuneration

Jason Marinko 22 Dec 2021 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche D  10,000,000 0.0276 15 Oct 2025 $0.025 80,910 195,090 

 40,000,000 306,051 737,949 

Tim Wise 22 Dec 2021 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0256 15 Oct 2024 $0.025 75,047 180,953

22 Dec 2021 Tranche D  10,000,000 0.0276 15 Oct 2025 $0.025 80,910 195,090 

 40,000,000 306,051 737,949 

James Blackburn 24 Jun 2022 Tranche A 10,000,000 0.0064 27 Mar 2025 $0.05 47,166 16,833

24 Jun 2022 Tranche B 10,000,000 0.0019 27 Mar 2025 $0.05 4,730 1,244

24 Jun 2022 Tranche C 10,000,000 0.0016 27 Mar 2025 $0.05 3,750 987

24 Jun 2022 Tranche D  10,000,000 0.0014 27 Mar 2025 $0.05 3,090 813 

 40,000,000 58,736 19,877 

 120,000,000 670,838 1,495,775 

Notes
(i)	 All options vest from 12 months after agreement date and provided that applicable 20-day VWAP targets are met at any time after that date. The VWAP targets associated with each Tranche of option are 

as specified below in the valuation methodology. VWAP targets for the options issued to Mr Marinko and Mr Wise have been met. The agreement date for Mr Marinko and Mr Wise was 15 October 2021. 
The agreement date for Mr Blackburn was 27 March 2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Option valuation methodology

The fair value of options on grant date was determined using a 
Black Scholes option valuation model adjusted, as applicable, for 
the probability of the share price reaching specified 20-day VWAP 
targets as determined at grant date. The inputs to the valuation 
model therefore include, agreement date, grant date (being date 
of issue and measurement), expiry date and exercise price as 
specified in the table above, as well as the following inputs:

Jason Marinko / Tim Wise options 

Share price at grant date: 	 $0.036 

Share price volatility:	 100%

Risk-free rate:		  0.93%

Tranche A - no VWAP targets applicable

Tranche B - VWAP target $0.025 (probability of reaching VWAP 
target 100%) 

Tranche C - VWAP target $0.035 (probability of reaching VWAP 
target 100%) 

Tranche D - VWAP target $0.05 (probability of reaching VWAP target 
100%)

A 100% probability weighting has been used at the grant date (i.e. 
date of measurement) on the basis that the VWAP targets specified 
had been met at that date for all option tranches based on their 
terms of issue.

James Blackburn options

Share price at grant date: 	 $0.016 

Share price volatility:	 100%

Risk-free rate:		  2.93%

Tranche A - no VWAP targets applicable

Tranche B - VWAP target $0.06 (probability of reaching VWAP target 
22%) 

Tranche C - VWAP target $0.08 (probability of reaching VWAP target 
18%) Tranche 

D - VWAP target $0.10 (probability of reaching VWAP target 15%)

(d)	 Issue of ECT shares and ECTOE options for cost of capital raisings

2022

In August 2021, the Company issued 78,000,000 ECTOE options 
and 9,000,000 ECT shares to Kaai Capital for costs incurred in 
relation to a share placement that was made in April 2021. The 
listed market price of ECTOE options on the date of issue was 
$0.002 for total consideration of $156,000. The listed market 
price of ECT shares on the date of issue was $0.01 for total 
consideration of $90,000. These amounts were treated as a cost 
related to the share capital raising and therefore netted off against 
the share capital raised.

On 4 October 2021, the Company issued 168,000,000 ECTOE 
options and 18,000,000 ECT shares to Kaai Capital as Lead Manager 
of the Promissory Note Raising. The listed market price of ECTOE 
options on the date of issue was $0.002 for total consideration of

$336,000. The listed market price of ECT shares on the date of 
issue was $0.01 for total consideration of $180,000. These amounts 
were treated as a cost incurred for raising debt and therefore 
netted against the amount of debt capital raised.

On 3 May 2022, the Company made a $5m share placement. Kaai 
Capital and Peak Asset Management were joint lead managers. 
Total remuneration for the lead managers was the issue of 
10,200,000 ECTOE options and $300,000 in cash. The listed market 
price of ECTOE options on the date of issue was $0.002 for total 
consideration of $91,800. This amount was treated as a cost related 
to the share capital raising and therefore netted off against the 
share capital raised.

(e)	 Transfer of shares and options for the acquisition of goods and 
the provision of services

2023

On 11 April 2023, 2,819,987 shares were released from an ELF 
which related to the settlement of creditors. The value of the 
shares was calculated using the VWAP of the Company’s shares 

for the month in which the creditor provided the services from 
January to March 2023. The VWAPs used were January 2023 
$0.011, February 2023 $0.011, and March 2023 $0.009 for a total 
consideration of $26,894 which was treated as a corporate expense.

On 19 April 2023, 333,333 shares were released from an ELF which 
related to the settlement of creditors. The value of the shares was 
calculated using the VWAP of the Company’s shares for the month 
of March 2023 which was $0.009 for a total consideration of $3,000 
which was treated as a corporate expense.

On 5 May 2023, 1,178,513 shares were released from an ELF which 
related to the settlement of creditors. The value of the shares was 
calculated using the VWAP of the Company’s shares for the month 
of April 2023 which was $0.011 for a total consideration of $12,963 
which was treated as a corporate expense.

On 22 May 2023, 528,535 shares were released from an ELF which 
related to the settlement of creditors. The value of the shares was 
calculated using the VWAP of the Company’s shares for the month 
in which the creditor provided the services in March and April 2023 
was $0.009 and $0.011 respectively for a total consideration of 
$5,250 which was treated as a corporate expense.

On 14 June 2023, 2,127,685 shares were released from an 
ELF which related to the settlement of creditors. The value of 
the shares was calculated using the VWAP of the Company’s 
shares for the month of May 2023 which was $0.009 for a total 
consideration of $19,149 which was treated as a corporate expense.

Total charged to corporate expense for the year was $67,256.

2022

During the prior financial year, 18,261,835 ECTOE options were 
released from an ELF in the name of Iain McEwin. These options 
were released to in lieu of a performance fee for arranging the early 
repayment of the ELF held by Challenge Bricks and Roofing Pty Ltd 
and nominees. The listed market price of ECTOE options on the 
date of issue was $0.01 for total consideration of $182,623. This 
amount was treated as a corporate expense.
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On 13 October 2021, 321,333 ECTOE options were also released from an ELF which related to the 
settlement of creditors. The listed market price of ECTOE options on the date of issue was $0.01 for 
total consideration of $3,292. This amount was treated as a sales and marketing cost.

On 14 October 2021, 1,877,417 shares and 750,967 ECTOE options were released from an ELF in 
settlement of payments to creditors.

The value of the shares and options on the date of release was $18,774 and $1,502 respectively. These 
amounts were treated as a corporate expense.

On 1 July 2021, 1,000,000 ECT shares were issued in satisfaction of the receipt of general support 
services received. The shares were issued on that date at $0.01 for total consideration of $10,000. This 
amount was treated as a corporate expense.

(f)	 Sale of Wood247

2022

As part of the arrangement for the disposal of the Wood247 division during the 2022 financial year, 
4,500,000 ECT shares were transferred to the acquirer from treasury shares (refer note 17). The listed 
market price of ECT shares at the date of issue was $0.035 for total value delivered of $157,500. 
This amount was treated as a corporate expense for the year. However, as part settlement of the 
cash proceeds receivable from the purchaser, the amount of which was $132,000 and which had 
been written off as uncollectable by the Company, the 4,500,000 ECT shares were returned to ECT 
and cancelled. The value of such shares was $49,500 which was recognised as income on return as a 
recovery of bad debts.

(g)	 Issue of ECT shares for partial acquisition of Yallourn property

2022

25,000,000 ECT shares were transferred to the vendors of the property at Yallourn which the Company 
purchased on 22 February 2022 in partial settlement of this acquisition. The listed market price of 
ECT shares on the date of issue was $0.019 for total consideration of $475,000. These shares were 
escrowed for 6 months. This amount was capitalised to the cost of acquisition with a corresponding 
increase to share capital. These shares were transferred from an existing ELF loan.

Note 34. Events after the reporting period

Board restructure

On 15 August 2023, Glenn Fozard and Tim Wise resigned from the Board of the Company. Sam Rizzo 
was appointed on this date as Managing Director of the Company and Glenn Fozard was appointed as 
Chief Operations Officer.

For further details, refer to the directors’ report.

Capital raising

On 17 August 2023, the Company announced that it had received firm commitments to raise $2.0 
million through the issue of 363,636,363 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.0055 
per share (Placement). The Placement was offered to sophisticated and professional investors and 
was strongly supported by existing shareholders. Proceeds will support engineering works at the 
Company’s Bacchus Marsh production facility under a revised strategy designed to capture near-term 
commercial opportunities.

The Placement has resulted in the issuing of 349,126,363 new shares with the settlement proceeds 
received. The new shares rank equally with existing shares on issue and are issued using the 
Company’s existing capacities under ASX Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.1A, accordingly shareholder approval 
was not required. The remaining 14,510,000 shares to be issued are subject to shareholder approval at 
the Company’s next AGM as the shares are intended to be issued to related parties.

Kaai Capital acted as Lead Manager to the Placement and was paid a fee of 6% of the amount raised 
which Kaai elected to receive in the form of 21,818,182 shares at the Placement price. They were also 
issued 50 million options, each with an exercise price of $0.011 expiring 3 years from issue. These 
securities were issued under the Company’s ASX Listing Rule 7.1 capacity and accordingly shareholder 
approval was not required.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2023 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the 
consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT

Independent Auditor’s ReportDirectors’ declaration
30 June 2023

In the directors’ opinion:

•	 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, 
the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements;

•	 the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 
1 to the financial statements;

•	 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its performance for the financial year 
ended on that date;

•	 subject to the matters disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

•	 at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members 
of the Extended Closed Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which 
they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in 
note 28 to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 
2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Jason Marinko  
Chairman

31 August 2023  
Perth
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Shareholder Information
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 3 October 2023.

Distribution of equitable securities
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

Holding Ranges Ordinary shares Options over ordinary shares

Holders Shares % of total 
shares issued Holders Options % of total 

options issued

1 - 1,000 436 128,129 0.005% - -

1,001 - 5,000 671 2,172,497 0.076% - -

5,001 - 10,000 586 4,703,356 0.164% - -

10,001 - to 100,000 2,399 102,596,521 3.566% - -

100,001 1,394 2,367,009,066 96.189% 7 50,000,000 100%

Total 5,486 2,476,610,569 100.000% 7 50,000,000 100%

Holding less than a marketable parcel 3,780 78,472,952 - -
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

ECT
Equity Security Holders
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below.

ECT Ordinary Shares
Number of 

ordinary
shares held

% of total
ordinary shares

issued

LJ & K Thomson Pty Ltd (LJT & KT Super Fund A/C)  274,540,000 9.64%

Bin Liu  164,101,976 5.76%

Sunset Tidal Pty Ltd (Sunset Tidal Investment A/C)  120,000,000 4.21%

Godin Corp Pty Ltd (Seven A/C)  98,144,805 3.45%

Arkyn Pty Ltd (Kovani A/C)  83,991,667 2.95%

Tellaro Pty Ltd (Tellaro A/C)  83,250,000 2.92%

Lloyd Thomson & Kate Thomson (The Thomson Custodian 
A/C)

 76,133,334 2.67%

Iain McEwin  72,989,906 2.56%

Superior Coatings (Aust) Pty Ltd  71,000,000 2.49%

Challenge Bricks & Roofing Pty Ltd  55,284,804 1.94%

Chunyan Niu  53,056,825 1.86%

Alitime Nominees Pty Ltd (Honeyham Family A/C)  44,000,000 1.55%

Davy Corp Pty Ltd (Davy Investment A/C)  39,712,238 1.39%

10 Bolivianos Pty Ltd  38,118,564 1.34%

Cameron Thomson  37,100,000 1.30%

Ronald Thompson & Brittany Joyce (Challenge Roofing PL SF 
A/C)

 35,600,302 1.25%

Alexander Thambirajah  29,000,000 1.02%

Challenge Roofing Pty Ltd (Thompson Family A/C)  28,017,600 0.98%

A & K Moore Nominees Pty Ltd (Moore Superannuation A/C)  26,625,936 0.94%

Romfal Sifat Pty Ltd (The Fizmail Family A/C)  26,139,146 0.92%

1,456,807,103 51.14%

Substantial Holders
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

Holder Number of ordinary shares 
held

% of total ordinary shares 
issued

LJ & K Thomson Pty Ltd  
(LJT & KT Super Fund A/C)

301,333,334 12.17% 

Bin Liu 164,101,976 5.76%

Superior Coatings (Aust) Pty Ltd 143,989,906 5.05% 

Voting rights

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares, including those held within an equity loan funding (ELF) arrangement. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

Options

Options do not convey any rights to the holder with respect to voting unless such options are exercised 
and ordinary shares are issued.

Restricted securities and securities subject to voluntary escrow

Class Expiry date for restriction Number of securities

ECT ordinary shares No expiry 4,500,000

ECT ordinary shares 15 January 2024 65,000,000

ECT ordinary shares 9 May 2024 20,654,587

ECT ordinary shares 14 September 2024 35,000,000

Unlisted options Refer directors’ report 120,000,000
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